
      
WORK SESSION AGENDAWORK SESSION AGENDA  

 
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSIONCITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION
TUESDAYTUESDAY
FEBRUARY 25, 2025FEBRUARY 25, 2025
 

 COUNCIL CHAMBERSCOUNCIL CHAMBERS
211 WEST ASPEN AVENUE211 WEST ASPEN AVENUE

             3:00 P.M.             3:00 P.M.
 

All City Council Meetings are live streamed on the city's YouTube pageAll City Council Meetings are live streamed on the city's YouTube page
((https://www.youtube.com/@FlagstaffCityGovernmenthttps://www.youtube.com/@FlagstaffCityGovernment))  

***PUBLIC COMMENT******PUBLIC COMMENT***  

Verbal public comments not related to items appearing on the posted agenda may be provided during the
"Open Call to the Public" at the beginning and end of the meeting and may only be provided in person.

Verbal public comments related to items appearing on the posted agenda may be given in person or online
and will be taken at the time the item is discussed.

To provide online verbal comment on an item that appears on the posted agenda, use the link below. 

ONLINE VERBAL PUBLIC COMMENTONLINE VERBAL PUBLIC COMMENT  

Written comments may be submitted to publiccomment@flagstaffaz.gov. All comments submitted via email
will be considered written comments and will be documented in the record as such.

      
1.1. Call to OrderCall to Order

NOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSIONNOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION
  
Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council and to the
general public that, at this work session, the City Council may vote to go into executive session,
which will not be open to the public, for discussion and consultation with the City's attorneys for legal
advice on any item listed on the following agenda, pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.03(A)(3).

  

 

2.2. Roll CallRoll Call
 
NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance through other technological means.
 
MAYOR DAGGETT
VICE MAYOR SWEET
COUNCILMEMBER ASLAN
COUNCILMEMBER GARCIA

COUNCILMEMBER HOUSE
COUNCILMEMBER MATTHEWS
COUNCILMEMBER SPENCE

  

 

3.3. Pledge of Allegiance, Mission Statement, and Land AcknowledgementPledge of Allegiance, Mission Statement, and Land Acknowledgement
 

MISSION STATEMENTMISSION STATEMENT 
 

The mission of the City of Flagstaff is to protect and enhance the quality of life for all.

LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTLAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
 

The Flagstaff City Council humbly acknowledges the ancestral homelands of this area's Indigenous
nations and original stewards. These lands, still inhabited by Native descendants, border mountains
sacred to Indigenous peoples. We honor them, their legacies, their traditions, and their continued
contributions. We celebrate their past, present, and future generations who will forever know this
place as home.

  

 

  

https://www.youtube.com/@FlagstaffCityGovernment
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_OGU5OTBmZTUtMzZhMS00Zjk4LWI1NjItMjgxMWMwYmE3NmMy%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%225da727b9-fb88-48b4-aa07-2a40088a046d%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22092ff328-7f9a-4a81-ae2d-fba9ff4ca8ad%22%7d
mailto:publiccomment@flagstaffaz.gov


4.4. Open Call to the PublicOpen Call to the Public

Open Call to the Public enables the public to address the Council about an item that is not on the
prepared agenda. Comments relating to items that are on the agenda will be taken at the time that
the item is discussed. Open Call to the Public appears on the agenda twice, at the beginning and at
the end. The total time allotted for the first Open Call to the Public is 30 minutes; any additional
comments will be held until the second Open Call to the Public.

If you wish to address the Council in person at today's meeting, please complete a comment card
and submit it to the recording clerk as soon as possible. Your name will be called when it is your turn
to speak. You may address the Council up to three times throughout the meeting, including
comments made during Open Call to the Public and Public Comment. Please limit your remarks to
three minutes per item to allow everyone an opportunity to speak. At the discretion of the Chair, ten
or more persons present at the meeting and wishing to speak may appoint a representative who
may have no more than fifteen minutes to speak.

 

5.5. Review of Draft AgendReview of Draft Agenda for the March 4, 2025 City Coua for the March 4, 2025 City Council Meetingncil Meeting 
 
Citizens wishing to speak on agenda items not specifically called out by the City Council may submit
a speaker card for their items of interest to the recording clerk.

  

 

6.6. February Work AnniversariesFebruary Work Anniversaries
 

 Recognition of employees celebrating work anniversaries in February.
 

7.7. City Manager ReportCity Manager Report
 

 Information Only.
 

8.8. Route 66 Centennial Celebration PlansRoute 66 Centennial Celebration Plans
 

 Information Only.
 

9.9. USDA Urban Agriculture and Innovative Production Grant Update: Phase 2 CommunityUSDA Urban Agriculture and Innovative Production Grant Update: Phase 2 Community
ConversationsConversations
 

 Information Only. 
 

10.10. U.S. Department of Treasury, American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA), Local Recovery FundU.S. Department of Treasury, American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA), Local Recovery Fund
UpdateUpdate
 

 City staff will provide an update on the ARPA and Non-Federal ARPA Coronavirus Local Fiscal
Recovery Funds.

 

11.11. Overview of the Water Services Division and a Water Resources & Conservation UpdateOverview of the Water Services Division and a Water Resources & Conservation Update
 

 New City Council members will get a short overview of the Water Services Division, followed by
an overview of the operations of the Water Resources & Conservation section. This item is for
discussion only, no council action is required. 

 

12.12. Presentation and Discussion on an Opportunity to Expand Housing Choice VoucherPresentation and Discussion on an Opportunity to Expand Housing Choice Voucher
Program Resources by Accepting a Voluntary Program Transfer From the City of WilliamsProgram Resources by Accepting a Voluntary Program Transfer From the City of Williams
 

 Discussion of the proposed opportunity and direction from Council.
 



13.13. Open Call to the PublicOpen Call to the Public   
 

14.14. Informational Items To/From Mayor, Council, and City Manager; future agenda itemInformational Items To/From Mayor, Council, and City Manager; future agenda item
requestsrequests

  

 

15.15. AdjournmentAdjournment   

 

CERTIFICATE OF POSTING OF NOTICE

The undersigned hereby certifies that a copy of the foregoing notice was duly posted at Flagstaff City Hall on                        ,
at                    a.m./p.m. in accordance with the statement filed by the City Council with the City Clerk.

Dated this                   day of                                          , 2025.

__________________________________________
Stacy Saltzburg, MMC, City Clerk
                                            

THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF ENDEAVORS TO MAKE ALL PUBLIC MEETINGS ACCESSIBLE TO PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES. With 48-hour advance notice, reasonable accommodations
will be made upon request for persons with disabilities or non-English speaking residents. Please call the City Clerk (928) 213-2076 or email at stacy.saltzburg@flagstaffaz.gov to request an
accommodation to participate in this public meeting. 

NOTICE TO PARENTS AND LEGAL GUARDIANS: Parents and legal guardians have the right to consent before the City of Flagstaff makes a video or voice recording of a minor child,
pursuant to A.R.S. § 1-602(A)(9). The Flagstaff City Council meetings are live-streamed and recorded and may be viewed on the City of Flagstaff's website. If you permit your child to
attend/participate in a televised Council meeting, a recording will be made. You may exercise your right not to consent by not allowing your child to attend/participate in the meeting.



   6.  6.                       

CITY OF FLAGSTAFFCITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORTSTAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To:To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From:From: Georganna Staskey, Deputy City Clerk
Date:Date: 02/18/2025
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 02/25/2025

TITLE:TITLE:
February Work AnniversariesFebruary Work Anniversaries
 

DESIRED OUTCOME:DESIRED OUTCOME:
Recognition of employees celebrating work anniversaries in February.

Executive Summary:Executive Summary:

Information:Information:

Attachments:Attachments: Presentation



























   7.  7.                       

CITY OF FLAGSTAFFCITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORTSTAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To:To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From:From: Georganna Staskey, Deputy City Clerk
Date:Date: 02/18/2025
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 02/25/2025

TITLE:TITLE:
City Manager ReportCity Manager Report
 

DESIRED OUTCOME:DESIRED OUTCOME:
Information Only.

Executive Summary:Executive Summary:
These reports will be included in the City Council packet for regularly scheduled Work Session meetings. The
reports are intended to be informational, covering miscellaneous events and topics involving the City
organization.

***The report will be provided in advance of the meeting******The report will be provided in advance of the meeting***

Information:Information:

Attachments:Attachments:



   8.  8.                       

CITY OF FLAGSTAFFCITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORTSTAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To:To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From:From: Heidi Hansen, Economic Vitality Director
Date:Date: 02/13/2025
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 02/25/2025

TITLE:TITLE:
Route 66 Centennial Celebration PlansRoute 66 Centennial Celebration Plans
 

DESIRED OUTCOME:DESIRED OUTCOME:
Information Only.

Executive Summary:Executive Summary:
Route 66 will be celebrating 100 years on 11/11/26. The route runs through eight states; Illinois, Missouri,
Kansas, Oklahoma, Texas, New Mexico, California, and Arizona.
Flagstaff, Arizona serves 14.2 miles of the 401 miles in Arizona. Our value proposition is - Flagstaff is the only
7,000-foot elevation, pine fresh, dark-sky city on the Mother Road.
Reason to celebrate this Centennial is because it's a must-see experience by not only locals but visitors from
all over the globe. The Mother Road draws a huge international interest and we will use this fact to encourage
increased visitation for the betterment of our community and businesses. 

The term "Mother Road" for Route 66 originated in John Steinbeck's 1939 novel, The Grapes of Wrath. He
called it "the Mother Road, the road of flight" to highlight how the road provided refuge for people displaced by
the Great Depression and the Dust Bowl. Route 66 was a popular route for cross-country road trips after
World War II. The road was lined with motels, diners, gas stations, and roadside attractions. In the 1950s the
Federal Higway Administration began building interstates that would eventually replace Route 66, such as the
I-10 and I-40.  Route 66 was officially removed from the U.S. Highway System in 1985. However, sections of
the original road exist and many states, cities, and groups work to preserve the route.  The popular 2006
Disney movie, Cars, took a lot of its inspiration from the historic Route 66.

The Arizona Department of Transportation (ADOT) is also involved in the Route 66 Centennial celebrations
with our internal team and through the Arizona Historic Route 66 Corridor Management Plan that guides the
future preservation and enhancement of this historic roadway. 

The Museum Club (dating back to 1918), Miz Zips Cafe, Flagstaff Visitor Center, Motel DuBeau Travelers Inn,
and many other buildings are part of the Mother Road history with the very popular Mother Road Brewery
located along part of the old route. 
 

 

Information:Information:
The Route 66 Centennial plan includes significant dates, our strategy, objectives, and tactics.You will
hear how our Economic Vitality and PROSE divisions plan to engage the public over an 18-24 month period
of time.

We have initiatives that include ADOT signage placement, events and tours, marketing and advertising
(print/digital/social) campaigns that will also include two commemorative magazines and a passport, Route 66
shield placement and fence repair, sales missions, conference exposure, bus wraps, and co-op opportunities



with the Arizona Office of Tourism and Brand USA.

 

Attachments:Attachments: Route 66 Centennial



CITY OF FLAGSTAFF – DISCOVER FLAGSTAFF – CHOOSE FLAGSTAFF - PROSE



fl agstaffarizona.org



Target Audience 

Psychographics: 
History buff, adventure seekers, road 

trippers, cultural explorers, photography 

enthusiasts, vintage and nostalgia 

enthusiasts, movie buff

Demographics: 
Baby boomers, retirees, empty nesters, 

young families

Geographies:  
Domestic: Drive and flight markets 

including metro-Phoenix, Tucson, 

southern California, Albuquerque, Denver, 

Dallas, Utah and Las Vegas 

International: Germany, UK, Canada, 

Mexico, France, Benelux, Australia



Significant dates:

• March 2024 – Discover Flagstaff begins centennial marketing for our destination

• Sept. 2024 – Route 66 street mural repaint with Centennial messaging

• October 2025 – Discover Flagstaff’s annual marketing meeting, special appearance 

by Angel and Vilma Delgadillo

• Nov. 11, 2025 – Regional AZ DMO’s kick-off centennial celebration

• TBA – FLG Fire Dept and Hall of Flame

• Jan 2026 – June 2027 – ADOT Signage up

• June 6, 2026 – Flagstaff Event is in the works…

• July 4, 2026 – America’s 250-year celebration

•  Nov. 11, 2026 – The Centennial celebration date 

•  Nov. 11, 2026 – Veteran’s Day

•  Aug. 2027 – Discover Flagstaff concludes centennial marketing

    TBA – Arizona Office of Tourism marketing plan 



Strategy 

Objectives and Tactics

March 2024 – August 2027

Create and establish visitation demand by 

positioning Flagstaff as a four-season 

experience with historical significance of the 

route, highlight unique experiences including 

proximity to the Grand Canyon and the city’s 

Americana allure.   

Value Proposition Statement:                                                                                                 

“The only 7,000’ elevation, pine fresh, dark sky 

city on the Mother Road”



o Earned Media

o Events

o Library

o Owned Media

o Paid Media

o PROSE – Car Club

o Publications

o Sales – Meetings/Events/Conferences & Travel Trade

o Signage – ADOT, business window clings

o Social Media

o Visitor Center

o Website

 

Tactics March 2024 – August 2027



Walk This Talk Tour: 

Tactics 
March 2024 – August 2027



Tactics 
March 2024 – August 2027



Beautification:
 

Route 66 Medallion Shields 

• FUTS Fences along Route 66

• 13 shields have been installed with 

more to come

• Working with ADOT to apply vinyl 

wraps on Traffic Signal Cabinets 

along Route 66

Tactics 
March 2024 – August 2027



Continued beautification of Route 66…
Fixing broken fencing along the route and adding shields

 

Tactics March 2024 – August 2027



Continued beautification of Route 66…
Possible partnership with El Pueblo Motel

 

Tactics March 2024 – August 2027



Signage Enhancements

 

Tactics March 2024 – August 2027



Mountain Line Bus Wraps:                                                                                                              

We will have Route 66 Centennial themed wraps installed

 

Tactics March 2024 – August 2027



Keepsake 

Publications

& Flip Books:

 

Tactics March 2024 – August 2027



Sales (Meetings, Events & Conferences):

 
• Target Car Clubs, Motorcycle Clubs  

and Historical Associations/Groups -

o Create a Brochure for Route 66 Day Drives

for clubs to include in registration bags

o Marketing to promote bookings in 2026

• Trade Shows – 

o Rt. 66 Centennial talking points, 

website and itinerary ideas 

• Target Past Clubs and Groups for Repeat Business -

o Sending information that helps them choose Flagstaff

Tactics March 2024 – August 2027



International 

Travel Trade: 
 

Talking points, website, itineraries

• Secure international blogs & ad opportunities

• International Travel Trade Newsletters

• Special Travel Agent Trainings on the Rt. 66 product

• Marketing at trade shows, missions and familiarization tours

• Maximize AOT co-op efforts and partnerships

Trade Shows/Missions 

• AOT LA Sales Mission

• Go West Summit Lake Tahoe

• AOT Mexico Sales Mission

• IPW Chicago

• 2025/2026 Trade Shows/Missions

Tactics March 2024 – August 2027



Visitor Services:
• Centennial merchandise in the Visitor Center gift shop

• Route 66 Mural REFRESHED!

• History event at the Visitor Center

• Educate Visitors on Route 66 Landmarks and photo ops in Flagstaff

• Promotion of Route 66 Passport – It’s LIVE!

Tactics March 2024 – August 2027







   9.  9.                       

CITY OF FLAGSTAFFCITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORTSTAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To:To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From:From: Steven Thompson, Sustainability Manager
Date:Date: 02/12/2025
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 02/25/2025

TITLE:TITLE:
USDA Urban Agriculture and Innovative Production Grant Update: Phase 2 CommunityUSDA Urban Agriculture and Innovative Production Grant Update: Phase 2 Community
ConversationsConversations
 

DESIRED OUTCOME:DESIRED OUTCOME:
Information Only. 

Executive Summary:Executive Summary:
In September 2022, the Sustainability Division received a United States Department of Agriculture (USDA)
Urban Agriculture and Innovative Production (UAIP) grant for Assessing and Growing a Sustainable
Community Food System project. The grant funds the development of a comprehensive food systems
assessment, innovative food business feasibility study, and Food Action Plan in three respective phases.This
informational presentation will share key findings from Phase 2: Community Conversations. 

Information:Information:

In September 2022, the Sustainability Division received a United States Department of Agriculture (USDA)
Urban Agriculture and Innovative Production (UAIP) grant for Assessing and Growing a Sustainable
Community Food System project. The grant funds the development of a comprehensive food systems
assessment, innovative food business feasibility study, and Food Action Plan in three respective phases.   

Phase 1 was completed in July 2024 with the publication of the Community Food Systems Assessment
(CFSA). Phase 2 started in the fall of 2024, which focused on community conversations around the CFSA.
Phase 2 was led by Pinnacle Prevention, in collaboration with the Sustainability Division and Flagstaff
Foodlink. The purpose of this phase was to engage community members and stakeholders to share
reflections on the information from the CFSA, to understand perspectives on overall needs, gaps, and
barriers, and identify priority focus areas. Information from these sessions will be used to inform the third and
final phase of this grant funded project, to develop a Food Action Plan. 

This informational presentation will share key findings from Phase 2: Community Conversations. 

Food Action Plan Development Recommendations 

Priority Focus Areas 

Food Access 

Agricultural landscape and food production 

Food retail environment 

Food system infrastructure 

Food waste and recovery 



Food consumption and health 

Integrate culturally-relevant cross-cutting strategies that center Indigenous food ways across all priority
areas. 

Integrate climate-smart infrastructure to support food production. 

Conduct a deeper analysis of city zoning regulations. 

Align the Food Action Plan with existing plans and community health improvement plans. 

Center youth and student-led development opportunities to engage the next generation. 

 

Financial Impact: 

There is no financial impact. 

 

Policy Impact: 

These activities support strategies identified in the Carbon Neutrality Plan targeting the reduction of
greenhouse gas emissions from Flagstaff's food distribution, encouraging sustainable consumption, building
community resilience, improving food security, and implementing climate actions that are equitable. 

 

City Council and PBB Goals 

Sustainable, innovative infrastructure -- Utilize existing long-range plans that identify the community's
future infrastructure needs and all associated costs.  

Environmental stewardship -- Strengthen Flagstaff's resilience to climate change impacts on built,
natural, economic, health, & social systems 

Robust Resilient Community - Attract employers that provide high quality jobs & have a low impact on
infrastructure & natural resources. 

 

Regional Plan 

Goal E&C.2: Reduce greenhouse gas emissions. 

 

Carbon Neutrality Plan  

SC-2: Encourage sustainable consumption. 

SC-3: Divert more waste from the landfill. 

SC-4: Reduce organic waste going to the landfill and reduce food insecurity. 

CR-2: Strengthen existing community systems to create resilience to both short-term shocks and long-term
change. 

ES-2: Proactively engage community members on an ongoing basis. 



ES-3: Design targeted climate policies and programs to serve disproportionately impacted communities first. 

ES-4: Actively seek to recognize past harms, repair trust, and build deeper relationships with community
members. 

Housing, Neighborhoods & Equity: "Research has shown that neighborhoods can be a good predictor of
health. Therefore, it is imperative to place housing in areas of opportunity, such as community spaces, open
spaces, quality schools, food, and transportation." 

Attachments:Attachments: Notice of Award
Community Conversation Report
Community Food Systems Assessment
Presentation
Community Conversation Stakeholder Gathering Invite



����������	��

�
��
���
�����
��
��
��
������������������� !"#�"����

��"��#���$�"�!�$����$��%�� ���
��% !��

��

&'(�)�&*�+��
'��
���+�)),)
'��-���

�.�/0�12�32�456�764��89:;�1��
��
������������8<==>/	?@@@�A@?B

=.�/:�42:�45�89:;�1�
�� �
������������

3. Award /Project Period

Date of final signature - 01/01/2026

H.�I7J������0�12�64K519:�45L�
� �
��A1�45�/�1��:�45

?.�/��4E7�M8�:���42�/221�KKN�
�
�
OPQ/R�8<SP�T��6E�����5U��/KK�E6�5��SU6�����1�S�4K�1V�56�4�
�H@@�342�J�42�4E��/V�49��PW�
W�KU64�5�4R�QS�=@=?@���
���

G.�<�E6J6�45�T1��46X�56�4�M8�:���42�/221�KKN�
�
S3IY�TZ�Z[/API/ZZ����
Z[/API/ZZ�S3IY�\/[[�
Z[/API/ZZ�/]��BG@@�F?>?̂�
��
��O_3�89:;�1�C�QO8P�89:;�1L�̀aaOa�bI[cd>�C�@BB>@=G=?�
��_38L�

	.�8<SP��1��1�:�S�45�E5�
��
��
8�:�L�[_P[3_�A[Tc_<�
�U�4�L�M=@=N�=G@FB?B>�
_:�6eL�e�Ke6�.�e�V�1f9K2�.��V�

B.�8<SP�/2:646K51�56V���
� S�45�E5�
���
8�:�L�PO8Q33�gT\8PT8�
�U�4�L�M=@=N�	=@F?=G?�
_:�6eL�P94266.g�U4K�4f9K2�.
��V

.̂�<�E6J6�45��1��1�:��
� S�45�E5�
��
8�:�L�POaa_<�W\3I_�
�U�4�L�̂=BF=�>F=�HG�
_:�6eL�K9::�1.
0U65�f�e��K5����X.��V

�@.�<�E6J6�45�/2:646K51�56V���
� S�45�E5��
��
8�:�L�A<_IS\_8��Tc[P_8�
�U�4�L�̂=BF=�>F===H�
_:�6eL�A1�5EU�4.
��VeK�4f�e��K5����X.��V

��.�SZQ/�
��
�@.̂>?

�=.�/95U�1657�
��
	�OPS�Ĝ=>

�>.�I7J�����/E56�4�
��
8�0�/�1��:�45

�H.��1��1�:�Q61�E5�1�
��
8�:�L�PI/S_Y�h<_S\[_<F
b8/AAP�
�U�4�L�̂=BF=�>F===	�
_:�6eL�Ki4���Kf�e��K5����X.
��V

�?.��1�D�E5�I65e�C�Q�KE16J56�4L��P9K5�64�;e��S�::94657�Z��2�P7K5�:

�G.�_45657�I7J�L��

�	.�P�e�E5�Z94264��I7J�

P�e�E5��94264��57J�L Z�2�1�e 8�4FZ�2�1�e

T16�64�e��942K�5�5�e �j�BHR@B?.�=� �j@.@@�

/22656�4�e��942K�5�5�e �j@.@@ �j@.@@

A1�42�5�5�e �j�BHR@B?.�=� �j@.@@�

��
�B.��/JJ1�V�2�h92��5



����������	��

��
�����
� �������

�
���
 �������

����
��� �������

�����
������ �������

����
���
�������� �������������

 
�����!������� �������

"#���$��� �������

����
�����
 �������

%�&�
 �������������

����
�'�(�
�������� �������

����
�)��* �(�
�
� ��(� �������

����
� �(�
�
� ��(��+,�
(�( �������������

����
�+��
���(�!�(��� �������������

�&�����
��$���������-.����������
���-
��/��+�)0����������
1��
�����������(� �������
�+����������0���
��������'�������������&���
�,�
(��
��$��($������(���1���1$�����$�(����
�������&�
������&����(�
�����(�
��
��������&���&���
��&�����(�
1����&�
�2�(����
�������-�&�
������&���,�
(����
����2���������
�����&����&���,�
(������-.��������&�����
���-
���
�������������&�����
��$����3��(��

�
�����&$����4����(���
�����&�������������������1���1$����������������������
��$����-1��&����1����&����&���$������������1��
����(�-1�)0������&����-�������
���(��,�

�-��
����(�(��
��
�(���(������

����)0����

��
)�$����(����
�����+��&�
�2�(�
5���
�$����0��
�����������
��
��
�

��
��
�������
����
�
�

��
��
�����
�

��
)�$����(����
�����+��&�
�2�(�
0���������0��
�����������
��
��
�

��
��
�������
��
�
�

��
��
�����
�

67689:;<9=96>?976�:?>?@=@6?��

�&��/��������
�$�������+�
���
��
��3/��+4��
�&�-����(���
�$������������

������
��
�$����(����������������&��-��������
�������
�
���������
��
������
�����(���-�
��1����(�,&�
�����
���-
�����A��$�
���
�����������$�
��
�����������
����
���������
�
���������A��
��
�����������������������
$���������
�����
�
-�
������
��
���
���
�-��������

��
�����
����������(���(��
B������$�����(�
���(��
�$���1���-
���������������
��
�$��3)����

��
�&�-���(�-��������
1�

����

��
��
�$��4���
�����,��&�(���-�
������,&��
�#��
���
��
�������$�������
���$$��������������
��
�$�����
$������3!
��

���
�
����
�����
��(������������4��&��
(���������/��+B���+05"�������
����3���4�	��*�C���3��������(����4�������
������$�
��������(���
�$��������,
�������

/��+����
����
��%�������������
�0��&���������'�(����(�����+��������D���D��&����������������*E�����
���

�3���4�	E�*F�	��3�����4��
�3���4�
	��*CF���3���4��/��+��������#��
�����
�����1��
���(�
���(��$�
�1�
���

G<9H>;I�>;?�:?>?@=@6?��

�&���-���������$������
��$�(���������
(�����,��&��&���
����1�+�������E	��3��/������������������4��

GREG CLIFTON
CITY MANAGER

Annie.Tisi
Sticky Note
Greg, sign here


mmullaney
Text Box
09/22/2022




City of Flagstaff 

Sustainable Community Food System Grant Agreement 

NR223A750001G058 

U.S. Department of Agriculture – Natural Resources Conservation Service 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTEST:  

 

 

 

      

CITY CLERK 

 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

 

      

CITY ATTORNEY 

 

Annie.Tisi
Sticky Note
Stacy S sign here



����������	��

�

���
�
�����������

����������������������� ��!"#$�#���%��� &'�(��#��$�)�*�#�"�*�+��*��,��!������,!"��%()+�&�*�$!"!����-����$!"��!��*�!��
�!*"�$�.����%/0&�1213������4���������.��*�5��$���!������6�"�*���-�7��$�������!������6�"�*�5�#�-�������8��!"�������9���
 ��!"#$�#�����-�7���,��!,�����-#"�!���%8� 7�&�����/#�-!���8�����#�!�.�(#�9��:���� ;()+�;(<=;� 7�;13;
(8/82223332�������#����!>!���*���#��*���-����#$��!��*�������!*�/#�-!���8�����#�!�.��!�$�:���9��� ��!"#$�#�����-�
7���,��!������-#"�!���%� 7�&�+�����!�!,��?����*�������������#�-���*�"�!���31�21�������� ��!"#$�#���7����,������ "��
���123@�%�#9$!"�A�4�33B5��C&'�%	���+�DE1�&��
�
� 7��*#�����*�����-�,�$����������#�9������!"#$�#�����-�!���,��!,�����-#"�!����"�!,!�!�*�$�-�9.��������!�������!>��!��*'�
$�"�$������!9�$���,�������*'���-�*"���$*������*��,����.�����������-�*�F;31�!������*����������!��-������*�������#���*�����
�$���!������6�"�*�%��&�!*����*#����������-�,�$�������������6�"�*������4!$$��!�����!�!�!���'�9#!$-�#���'�����G���-�����������*�
���������*'����-����*'�"!�!>��*'���,�����������!"!�$*'�*"���$*'���-�������*��H���$-��*�!��"���#�!�!�*�4������""�**����
���*�����-*�����$!�!��-����#��,�!$�9$���
�
�����#���*�������!*����������'�9��4��������������������������� ��!"#$�#��'�(��#��$�)�*�#�"�*�+��*��,��!������,!"��
%()+�&���-�+!�.����/$��*�����%)�"!�!���&'�!*����-�,�$�����"��������*!,�����-�*.*�����**�**�����%+/� &�����!*�
�$���!������6�"��!*����!�$�-� **�**!�����-�?��4!������#*��!��9$��+���#�!�.�/��-��.*�����
�
�!�"�������*��9$!*������������#*��!��9!$!�.�8��!"��!��122	'���-�����4�4!-�$.�*#""�**�#$�"���#�!�.����-�����������!��
1232'�����"!�.���*�*���-!$.�!�"���*�-�!�*����-�*.*���;��$���-�"���!�����*���������!"����*��G���-�-����!�"$#-�����#$$;�!���
+���#�!�.��#*��!��9!$!�.����"!�$!*��4���������*��$$������!�$*��������������-����-�*.*���*���$���-�4��H�� *������!*�
.���'��������!"����*�!�"���*�-�"���"!�.��������-�*.*���*�������*�4!��������--!�!���������#*��!��9$��/��-��.*���*�
 ���!+���*�I7�� �*��"!�!"�$$.�-�-!"���-�����**!*�!���4!�����!*�4��H��
�
����+!�.����/$��*������-����-���+$!����� "�!�����-� -�����!����$���!��123@�4�!"���!��$!���*�!�"���*!���$�"�$����-�
���-#"�!������9#!$-����������*!$!�������-�*.*�����7��J#������1212'�����/$��*�����+!�.�+�#�"!$��-����-���+$!�����
K������".���"$����!��'�4�!"��*����������-����,!�#*$.�*����-����$*���-��""�$�����-������!��$!����������!���"�!�,�������
8���.����$�����!��J#���1213'�����/$��*�����+!�.�+�#�"!$��-����-���+��9���(�#���$!�.��$���4�!"��L�#�$!��*��!����������
����*���-��""�����.!���*������!�*��������"�!,�$.���-#"����!**!��*'�9#!$-���*��������"���#�!�.'���-�������������
"��!���"�����M�%����+!�.����/$��*����'�1213&������+!�.����/$��*�������"���!>�*�������$�����-�*.*���*���,��!��-�"���*!���
�������#*����*���!**!��*���-�#�-��*���-*�!����,�����*�����"�!�!"�$�*������.�����"�!�,!���"��9�����#���$!�.�9.�12�2��
�
/#�#���*#""�**�4!��!��"���!�#�-����-�*.*���*�4��H�4!$$�-����-�����#���9!$!�.�������"��*������!"���$!".���-�!�,�*������
*������!�*�������--��**����!���$$.�*��"!�!"�H�.�9���!��*���-�$�,�������G!*�!���*�������*����!����,�����$��'�4��$��'�
"���#�!�.'���-�"���"!�.�%N����'�1213&����!*�*������!"��"�!�����O#!��*���-�������#�-������$�#�-��*���-!����������H�.�
!**#�*�������4��*'�-!*��!9#���*'������*'���-��������4��H*������$!�H�����'��*�4�$$��*�����"�!�!"�$�9���!��*���-�������#�!�!�*�
�������#*�������#��������*����"��*��#"�����������9#*�����-�*.*����� *�����G��*���'�4��4!$$���#�����"��������*!,�����-�
*.*�����**�**�����%+/� &����!*��"�!���*��,�*��*�����"������!�"��������� **�**!�����-�?��4!������#*��!��9$��
+���#�!�.�/��-��.*�������6�"��%���6�"�&��
�
����+!�.����/$��*�������*�"���!���-�!�*�$�������!*�-!��"�!���!��"��"����4!����#��"���#�!�.��������*�������"�$$�"��-��������
+/� �4!$$��#!-������+!�.P*����-�*.*���*�"���!�����*��,���������G��-�"�-����-�9�.��-����!��������-��������-�"!*!��;
��H��*'�H�.�*��H���$-��*'���-�����"���#�!�.����$��������!����������*#*��!��9$�����-�*.*����% � '�123B&������+��9���
(�#���$!�.��$���"���!�*����-�"���*!������-�4�*�����-�!�"���*!������-���"�,��.'������!����""�**!9$�����-�*.*���*�
*��"!�!"���������!��'���-��G���-!���#�9������!"#$�#���������#�!�!�*�����#���-����-�!,���!�!�!���*���-���$!".��+#�����$.�
����+!�.P*��#*��!��9!$!�.�8��!"��!*���"#*�-����!���,��!,���������*����9��!���--��**!������*��!**#�*�*#"���*�������9���
/����7�"#9����'�4�!"��*��H*�����*��9$!*���!��;O#�$!�.���-�$�4;"�*��#�9������!"#$�#���*!��*'�����4�)�*!-���!�$�/��-�
�"���*�����;������������,!-�*��������"����*��*��,!"�������*!-���*���-�$�"�$�����*'���-�����"����!�������������$!>�-�/��-�
��$!".�+�#�"!$�!*�#�-��4�.�����#�����������������-�*.*���*�"������4��H��)�*#$�*��������+/� �4!$$�
���,!-���"�!���9$��-�������9������!��������4��������*'���$��!��*�!�*'�!����*��#"�#��'���-���$!".��
�
������*#$�*�����#��+/� �4!$$���$�����!-���!�.����$��*��������4�9#*!��**�!�!�!��!,����-��**�**�!�*��!���"!�$����*!9!$!�.����!*'�
!���#��'�4!$$��#!-������"����!��������/��-� "�!����$����*��9$!*�!������$*���-�*������!�*������G���-!���#�9������!"#$�#���
��-����-��""�**��,���������G��-�"�-���8���$!H�$.��#�"���������!*��**�**�����4!$$�9������"����!�������������$�/��-�
��$!".�+�#�"!$�� �*��!�*�����#����"�������!�$*���-�"����!��*�4!$$���*#���������#���$�����H�*�*�$!-������!��������������
/$��*�����"���#�!�.'���-���$��#*�9������"#$�!,�����#�#���$��-��*'�������*'����-����*'���-�����������#�*�!�����!"#$�#���
��-�!���,��!,�����-����-#"�!����
�

QR�S�T




����������	��


���
���������������������
���������������������������������������������������
����������������� ����������������� �
����������������
����
�����
��
�����������������!"#�$�
�

���
�����%��&'������!"#�����������������������������������
�����������
��������������������������������
�������
������������������������$�
�

���
�����(����������������������������������������
�����������
������)����������������������������$�
�

���
��������*���������"�����
�������������������!��������
� ������������ �������������������������
�������������������
����������
��������������������$�
�
+��������������������������������
������������������������������������,!"#�-$

./01234516

+�������
��������������
��������������7������8�����������������
���������������������������������������������������"�������
�������������
����������������$�
�
����������
��������������������������������������������$�9���������������������
����:����������������������������
�����
�'���������� ���������'
������������������������$�
�
+
+�;�7<*=&+�>��?� @?A$�%�
�
+
+�;�"&*&9�;�"<8*#�>��?� @?A$�%�
�
!
8+9�!+<�;�>�		 @AB$@@�
�
!����������9�����
��!������,!9!-�)�>��� AAB$@@�
!9!�������������������������
����
������������������������������������������������������� ����������������������������
��
��������������������"�����
���������$�+������
���
������������������������������������������������� ������������������)��)
�����������������������������
��������$�
�
C&�9�
8&��>A( ADD�
E��������������������>(@ ?	A�
E���������������������������>? @@@�
E�
�����
������������>( A@@�
E�+�������'��������>�� %%��
C&�9�+F
��>�� B	%�
E��������������������>%? D(?�
E���������������������������>B @@@�
E�+�������'��������>B 	(��
�
C&�9�+G9&&��>�D %?A�
E��������������������>A �(?�
E���������������������������>% @@@�
E�
�����
������������>A @@@�,�����
�����������
�����
�������-�
E�+�������'��������>B ?�	�
�
�����
��������������)�>%( A@@$@@�
�����
��������������������������������������'�!���������!������������������"������������������ ����������������
��������������������$�+���������������������������
����������������� ����������������������������������������������$�
+����������������������������������������
���������������������������������������������������������������������
�����������������������
���� ������� ��������������� ����������������������
������������������������������
������
�������������������������������$�
�
E�!����������� ��������� �������
� ��������� ����������� ��������������������'�,B-�
��������������
��������������>D @@@�
E�
�)�����
����
���������
����>� @@@�
E�+����������������
����>( @@@�
E�;�
�������������
���������>( @@@�
E������
��������������������������������>( @@@�
E�9��������H����������H���������������������������>% A@@�
E�"�
��������������
�������������������,%-�����������������������>% @@@�

IJKL13�MNOON3451



����������	��

�

����
����
��������������������

����
����
�������������������
���
���
����������
������������
�
��
���������������
������������������
��������� ���!������
"�����!�����������#� ��������
�#����
����$���
�������������
������
�$�
����������������!�
�%�
�� ������%�
����������������
#����������
�$�
����
���!���!
�
�������
�#�������"�������
�$�
��������������� ��������!�
���� ������
����
������%�����!
����

�%������
����
��#������
�
�����
����
����
�����������������!�
���
����
�$���
�����
�
"����!���
��������$�����������
������
�$�
�����
�����
������&��#�����!����$��������'����!���
#��������
���!���!
�
�������
�#�������(��!��� ��
������������
��'�������������������$���
������
 ��������
�#�������
�
")"(*�+,-.�"��)/"/��'		���0����
�
,1+,-.�"��)/"/��	��&��'&�
,
������
 �#���� �
���##� ������������
����������
������	2���3�����
�����
�������
��##��
!��
 ���������
��"���
�
��������
�
��������������'		���0��������������!�
���������������
������������	��&��'&��
�
-���#���
���������
���
��$��!�
���� ����$����#��
��������������
����
�����0���2��
�
�
�

,����������
���������������
�����
�������!�������
����/
�
�%��
����4����5/)46�����
�����������"��%�����������
�����
�

������
��
��������%��
��
�������!�������
����/)4�
�����#�����������
�
1-�/�-./�)1/,7,*,",./�
'6���������
����
��
���������%�+����
���
���
��������������
������������� �
����%#��
������$���������
&6�-�$��������#���#!������������
�%�
��������$���#���
�����!����
���%#�������
��8/+(�$��!����
���������������!��
������
�6�����!�
��������%��
�����5$�������
�������#�����������#������������$���
6�
������!���
���#�����������
��������%��
��
�
-.�,�,.1"�-./�)1/,7,*,",./�
�
'6�
������%�
������� ������$��!�
����#������
������������
���#��9��
������
�$�����������%�
���������%�:��������� �
���������
&6�4�������������
�$�� ���
�������������!�
 �;���
������;!%���/��$��������������������!�
 ����#���
�$��.3
��������
�6�-�$�����$��������%�
���������%�
���8/+(��������������
���8/+(����������
 �������%��������� �!
�������������
���
8/+(���$�������
�#���� �����������������
��8/+(�+�#��
%��
���-��!��
����<�������.=!���)##��
!��
 �5.)6��!�����
1�
�����
��������� ������/��
����	����������������������%#� ���
��
���!��������
���8/+(�1���������%���
����/
�
�%��
��
<6�������%�
������������#���!���
�������$������������!
���������
����/
�
�%��
����4�����
�6�����!�
�������
�$�
��������#�����%�#��$������!�����
���������%��
������%#���������
�������##������������������$�������
�
�������!��������!��
����������#���������
06�.��!������%�%����������������
��
��������������-������
���%%��������������������%�

���
���� ����������#��
����

���������%��
����
���� �������
�
��
�%� �������
��������%��
	6���%#� ���
��
����##��������$����������
�����������"��%�����������
������
>6�/!�%�
���#��
������#� %��
���=!��
��
��
����?
������
��� �
�%����
���
��%�����!�
��������������$�
����5
�(�6�
����
������(����%��
��+�$������$����%����
��
�(��7���(+@!������$�����!
���������
����##��������$����������
���
��������"��%�����������
�������*�%�
���$�����#� %��
���=!��
��
���%%����
�������������5����� �6���-�#��
����
���=!��� ��������������A�
�
������%�������#��
�A����!���
�
/
<&��
���������-�#��
�A�����!����,����$�����#� %��
��������=!��
����
���������������#��
����=!��� ����=!��
��� ��
�

BCDEFGDHIHJHKHCD�FL�KMC�NOPKHCDQ

'�(������
��������������� �
�%������##��
!��
���������
����
���������%%!��
 ���
�������#��%�
��������
���������
�������
�����������%�����
�$�
 �
���!������
/(��
������'A�R����&�&��S�:����&�&��A���%#������������%����$��$�������
���������
����
�������%���������������% �5�-�6��
R����&�&��S�R����&�&0�A�,���
�� ������%�������
�����
����
����������
��
���������������
������"����#���
���������������?��

TUECVKCW�XVVFYEJHDMYCGKD�OGW�ZCJH[CPOIJCD



����������	��

�
�����
�
�����������������

����
������������
�
�������
����������������������������������
�����
������������
�
�
��
���
����������
�
��
�������
������������
����������
����

�������������
�
�
�������������������

����
������ !�"�
� # $%�"�
�� # $�!�&�
�����

����
�����
���'#%(#�������������)����������
�
�
�����&*&���
"��)� # $�+�,����� # $�!�&�
��������
���
��������
��)�
���
����������������&*&���
������$!�-���� # $�+�.���� # $�!�&���
������
���
��������
�����
��
���
��)�
��

�����������)�������������

�������
/��
�
���
����

�

��0������

�������

�)������
�������0�,1-���
��)�
�0�
�����������0��������
���
�
�������)�
�������
�����
�
�������������

������������0����������0����



�0��
�������0������

���
�
�2��

���
�
�0����
�
��0����������
�������&*&���
�
 ��34��

��&�,5��

�

����
�����������������
��

�����������
�������
�����
���
������
�

����������
���������������
������)������
������6!�"�
�� # '�+�"�
�� # '�!�7��������������������

����
�����)����
�
�
%������0��
�)��
�����
�)������0��
�
��
�������0��������0���������

���������0��������
���������0���
�����������0��
������
�
���

����������������
��&�,5�
�

�

������


����������
�
�
��
������&
�)�����������������7�����������

�)���
������
�
���
���(#%�#����
��
�������
��
�
���

����������
�
����
������
�
���
���)����0���

��0�,��

��%�����

�0��
��

�
��
�����������
�
����


�����
�����
�
�
�8�����&
�)�����������������&���������
���������
�����������������������
���

������
�
��
��

�

����
��
�������

�)������
�����
�
������&
�)����������������
������ !�"�
�� # '�+�"��)� # '�!�5
��)9���
��������
9������������
����)��������

����

�������������

������������
������)���������������


����������
�
�
��������
���

�

����������&
�)���������������
����)����������������


�����
�����
�
�
���
�
$�5��������������
�
�
�)�����
���������
�����

�����������

�)��
������6!�"��)� # '�+�.���� # '�:������
�&�,5��
������
���
������
�0������������������������
�����

�����������

�)�
�
������
����������
�
�
�)��
��)�
�������&
�)���������������
��&*&���
�
'�.��������������5��
�
����
������
����
�)����
�)0���������

�0��
��

������
��

�����������������)������
������
�
���
���������������

�
����
������6!�"�
�� # (�+�;�)� # (�!�:��

������5��
�
����



�����������)��
���

���
�����������
��������������

��0�
���



������
�
�0��
��

�
�
������
�����������������������
���������
��������&
�)������������������&
�)���
;�)� # (�+�"�
�� # (�!�&�
��������
�
�
���������������
�������)���4�������

���������
�)����
�0��������������
�����
���0��������&*&���
"�
�� # (�+�-���� # (��.��������������������5��
�
����
��
����������
���������
������
������
���)� #$#������&
�)����
�����������
��&*&���
������ !�<���� # (�+�"�
�� # ��������
�������5��
�
����
����&
�)�&��
�
��������
�
�����
�
��
�������
�
������&
�)����
�����������
��&*&����.
����

���������

��������5��
�
����
������������
���
�������������������&
�)����������������
�
�

,�������*����
�
�
�
�
��������������
�������
�
�������/�
�������������0�
������
������

=>?@ABC>?�=>DAEB>F

�
�����
���

���
������
�
�����������
������
�������������
�
�����������
����

������4��������������
����
����
��
���
�������������
�
��
�
�

GEH>?I@J>?



�������������

���

	
�
�
���
����
��������������

��

������������������������������ !�"���������#�������$��%����&�'��&�������(����������������������&)�
���(�)**���+�(����+,�&�+��-*���,�*������.��&.�����%����*����&.���%�.��&.���&������*��&�/+��%��

�



City of Flagstaff 
Community Food System Assessment (CFSA)
Community Engagement Report

A Summary and Analysis of Community Conversation and Stakeholder Findings
in Response to the Community Food System Assessment

PinnaclePrevention.org

N O V E M B E R  2 0 2 4

Prepared By

http://www.PinnaclePrevention.org


Contents

I. INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................................3

II. METHODOLOGY ............................................................................................................3

III. SUMMARY OF FINDINGS .......................................................................................4  

 Community Conversations ....................................................................................4

 Community Conversation Themes .................................................................. 6

 Stakeholder Gathering Themes ....................................................................... 10

IV. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS ..........................................12

V. APPENDIX .......................................................................................................................13

Acknowledgements
This report was prepared by Pinnacle Prevention, an Arizona-based nonprofit 
organization dedicated to cultivating a just food system and opportunities 
for joyful movement. Pinnacle Prevention would like to thank the community 
sites and community-based organizations for their assistance in hosting and 
supporting recruitment for the community conversations. We share deep 
appreciation for the partnership support of the City of Flagstaff, Flagstaff 
Foodlink, and the numerous community members who shared their time, 
wisdom, and ideas to shape and grow a sustainable community food system 
for northern Arizona.

This opportunity was made possible as part of the U.S. Department of 
Agriculture (USDA) Urban Agriculture and Innovative Production (UAIP) 
grant. The perspectives, experiences, and views shared in this report are not 
reflective of Pinnacle Prevention, the City of Flagstaff, Flagstaff Foodlink, or 
the USDA. Experiences shared in this report are those shared by community 
members and community-based organizations. 

C O M M U N I T Y  E N G A G E M E N T  R E P O R T C O M M U N I T Y  E N G A G E M E N T  R E P O R T

CFSA Community Engagement Report 2024 | Pinnacle Prevention 2



Introduction
The City of Flagstaff Sustainability Office was 
awarded a U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) 
Urban Agriculture and Innovative Production 
(UAIP) planning project grant to support a three-
year project to assess and grow a sustainable 
community food system. Phase one of the 
project started in 2023 with the completion of 
a 12-month long assessment of the regional 
food system. The Community Food System 
Assessment was conducted by food business 
consultants, New Venture Advisors, and included 
conducting surveys, interviews, and focus groups 
as well as examining secondary data to develop 
and provide a comprehensive picture of the 
current food landscape in Northern Arizona.
 

The assessment focused on six (6) distinct 
focus areas of the food system including:

1) The agricultural landscape and food 
production,

2) Food system infrastructure,

3) The food retail environment,

4) Food consumption and health, 

5) Food access, and

6) Food waste and recovery.

Phase two of the grant project started mid-2024 
following the conclusion of the assessment and 
focused on community engagement around 
the assessment. Phase two was led by Pinnacle 
Prevention, in collaboration with the City of 

Flagstaff and Flagstaff Foodlink. The purpose 
and goals of phase two of the project were to 
engage community members and stakeholders to 
share and reflect on data and information from 
the assessment, to understand how individuals 
are making meaning of the data, understand 
perspectives on overall needs, gaps, and barriers, 
and to listen and learn about what community 
members and stakeholders feel should be 
prioritized to inform future planning efforts. 

The information in this community engagement 
report is intended to be used to inform the third 
and final phase of the grant, which includes the 
development of a food action plan as well as 
to guide decision-making for the city in future 
investments, resourcing, and approaches to 
ensure that strategies, initiatives, and policies are 
being delivered in a way that is most meaningful 
and impactful to community.

The community engagement conversation 
findings aim to complement the community food 
system assessment to better understand needs, 
strengths, and desires within the spectrum of 
participation that centers an opportunity for co-
design and informs future efforts in collaboration 
with community members impacted by the 
decisions, plans, and services being offered. 
Findings can also be applied to Continuous 
Quality Improvement (CQI) efforts beyond just 
the sustainability office, across all divisions 
with the City of Flagstaff – from community 
development to parks and recreation, to water 
services, and more.

Methodology
Pinnacle Prevention utilizes a community-
based participatory research (CBPR) 
method for conducting community 
engagement efforts. A CBPR model allows 
for authentic engagement with trusted 
partners supporting opportunities for 
community to work alongside the public 
sector and stakeholders to co-design 
more impactful shared outcomes. This 
methodology also allows for the integration 
of perspectives and needs prioritized by 
community members that are often not 
considered or left out of institutional 
decision-making. Participatory processes 
that offer authentic engagement offer 
great significance in improving outcomes 
among underrepresented populations 
disproportionately impacted by disparities 
within the food system. The CBPR 
engagement process also contributes to 
improved trust building, capacity building, 
and co-powerment in translating needs 
and findings into policy development 
and implementation of more impactful 
initiatives between local government 
entities and the community.

To protect the identities of participants, findings have been compiled and reported collectively. All 
conversations were recorded and transcribed. Transcribed notes from each conversation were analyzed 
through categorization analysis consistent with standard qualitative research protocols. Using this 
technique, categories within the text were then developed into major themes representative of the 
data. Those themes were then linked with examples and quotes from the discussions. Data was also 
analyzed for any unique findings specific to a particular demographic or location.

The Community Food System Assessment (CFSA) 
community engagement efforts were designed 
around a two-tiered approach based on engaging 
two different centered audience groups:

I) (Community Members) Community 
Conversations: Community conversations 
centered community members residing in or near 
the City of Flagstaff and the northern Arizona 
region reaching a total of 94 individuals across 
six (6) conversations. To ensure broad reach 
conversations centered different demographic 
groups from adults, youth, older adults and 
elders, Indigenous families, and individuals 
working in or with the education sector.

II) (Stakeholders) Food System Stakeholder 
Gatherings: Stakeholder gatherings centered 
professional stakeholders and food system 
advocates living and working in the City of 
Flagstaff and the northern Arizona region 
reaching a total of 47 stakeholders. 

 • # of Community Members Engaged = 94
 • # of Stakeholders Engaged = 47
 • Total Engagement = 141 Individuals

C O M M U N I T Y  E N G A G E M E N T  R E P O R T C O M M U N I T Y  E N G A G E M E N T  R E P O R T

CFSA Community Engagement Report 2024 | Pinnacle Prevention 3



Figure 2. Community Conversation Participation by Age

Summary of Findings
Community Conversations

The CFSA community engagement project 
included conversations with community members 
residing in or near Flagstaff.  

The average community focus group size 
consisted of 16 people and lasted approximately 
one and a half hours. Participants were recruited 
through the conversation host sites, nearby 
community centers where community members 
frequently gather, through Flagstaff Foodlink 
partnerships, and through the City of Flagstaff 
resilience hubs. Community conversation 
population demographics are highlighted below.

Community conversations were hosted 
at the following locations between 
August and October 2024:

1) East Flagstaff Community Library 
(Centered audience: Adults, all ages)

2) Murdoch Community Center 
(Centered audience: Adults, all ages)

3) STAR School (Centered audience: 
Indigenous families)

4) Flagstaff Aquaplex (Centered 
audience: Young adults and students, 
ages 18-23)

5) Joe C. Montoya Community and 
Senior Center (Centered audience: 
Seniors, older adults)

6) Willow Bend Environmental Education 
Center (Centered audience: Educators, 
Flagstaff Unified School District 
(FUSD) partners) 

Figure 1. Community Conversation Participation by Participant Zip Code

86503 (Navajo Nation)

86047 (Navajo Nation)

86035 (Leupp)

86034 (Hopi)

86015 (Bellemont)

86001 (Flagstaff)

86005 (Flagstaff)

86004 (Flagstaff)

86005 (Flagstaff)

86001 (Flagstaff)

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 20% 35% 40% 45%

       3%

           4%

    2%

1%

1%

                     7%

                                 10%

                                                                                                                                               40%

           4%

                                                                                        25%

18%

16% 

14%

12%

10%

8%

6%

4%

2%

0%

 17 or 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 75 or 
 Younger       Older

0%

13.25%
14.46%

10.84%

15.66%
16.87% 16.87%

12.05%

C O M M U N I T Y  E N G A G E M E N T  R E P O R T C O M M U N I T Y  E N G A G E M E N T  R E P O R T

CFSA Community Engagement Report 2024 | Pinnacle Prevention 4



Figure 6. Community Conversation – Participant Food Production Sharing Practices
If you grow or produce your own food, what do you do with the food 

that you grow or produce? Select all that apply.
60%

50%

40% 

30%

20%

10%

0%

Not applicable Personal use for 
cooking, eating, 

canning, or 
preserving.

Give it away 
to neighbors, 

friends, or other 
acquaintances.

Give it away to 
ogranization

Sell it Other* 
(please describe)

37.88%

56.06%

40.91%

9.09%
3.03%

7.58%

Figure 4. Community Conversation Participants Participation in 
Community Food Program(s)

Figure 3. Community Conversation Participation by Race-Ethnicity(ies)

The Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program 
(SNAP)/EBT (formerly known as food stamps)

The Women, Infants, and Children
(WIC) Program

The Commodity Supplemental Food Program, 
also known as the Senior Food Box Program

The Double Up Food Bucks Program

The Arizona Farmers Market Nutrition
Program (FMNP) for Seniors or WIC families

Local Food Bank

Local Food Pantry

I have never participated in
any of these programs

I prefer not to answer this question

Another option not listed here:
(please specify)*

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%

21.95% American Indian or Alaska Native

2.44% Asian or Asian American

14.63% Black or African American

7.32% Hispanic, Latino, Latina, Lantinx, or Latin@

58.54% White or Caucasian

1.32%

1.32%

0%

2.63%

2.63%

26.32%

14.47%

48.68%

11.84%

14.47%

Figure 5. Community Conversation – Participant Food Production Practices
Do you grow or produce your own food

(such as in a home garden, community garden, 
food producing trees, or something else)?

Do you raise
food-producing animals?

100%

90%

80% 

70% 

60%

50%

40% 

30%

20%

10%

0%

Yes No

43.9%

56.10%

Yes No

9.76%

90.24%

* Other community food programs listed included: Terra Birds school gardens, meals on wheels, 
   Flagstaff Community Fridges, Co-op, Senior Center lunches, and Navajo food programs.

* Other food production sharing practices listed included: Utilizing food grown in education  
   and culinary programs, sharing with students, and as compost to feed chickens.

C O M M U N I T Y  E N G A G E M E N T  R E P O R T C O M M U N I T Y  E N G A G E M E N T  R E P O R T

CFSA Community Engagement Report 2024 | Pinnacle Prevention 5



Community Conversation 
Themes

The goals of the community conversations    
were to:

• Reflect on key data highlights from the 
community food system assessment (CFSA) 
and how community members are making 
meaning of the data;

• Understand perspectives on overall needs, 
gaps, and barriers;

• Listen and learn about what should be 
prioritized in future food action planning and 
policy efforts; and,

• Identify possible future food business 
opportunities the city could focus on 
developing.

General discussion findings were consistent 
across all community conversations with some 
noted differences in perceptions and needs as 
indicated in participant comments, but not in 
overall trends. Findings around desired priorities 
varied by the centered audience group. A 
summary of findings was categorized into the 
following overarching areas:

• CFSA data that sparked curiosity within each of 
the six focus areas.

• Making meaning of the data and points of 
confusion.

• Food system barriers and challenges that 
should be a priority future focus area for the 
City of Flagstaff.

CFSA Points of Interest

Agricultural Landscape and Food Production 
and Food System Infrastructure
Of the six CFSA focus areas, the two areas that 
sparked the most interest and conversation 
were agricultural landscape and production 
and infrastructure. Many community members 
expressed surprise by the number of farms and 
ranches in the region, as well as disappointment 
about the loss in the number of farms and 
farmland acreage. When asked about what 
factors they believed were contributing to the 
loss in farms in the region responses ranged from 
perceptions about the impact of development, to 
lack of water, to wildfires. There were themes in 
conversations around the link between housing 
development and loss of land with viable water 
sources for farming and concerns about young 
and new farmers not being able to access and 
afford land. Community members recognized that 
many farmers are ‘aging out’ of the profession 
and felt that there are not many young adults that 
see a financially viable future in farming and do 
not have mentors to show them how to farm in 
northern Arizona’s unique climate. 

Many participants went on to compare data from 
the CFSA agricultural landscape and production 
section to the food system infrastructure section 
data with themes in concerns around the lack of 
distribution infrastructure. Participants shared 
feelings that the infrastructure is not matching 
the needs, especially for individuals residing 
on reservations. Conversations related these 
concerns to the isolation of the region and 
the impact that major weather and highway 
closures have on supply and demand in the area. 
Participants shared experiences with lack of 
supply as it related to the most recent COVID-19 
pandemic and the scarcity of food supply within 
the major supermarkets in the region. They 
discussed the importance of not wanting to rely 
on imported foods and a desire to modernize 
systems to better understand local production 
capacity with a desire to adopt and scale more 
efficient and sustainable systems for farmers and 
those producing food in the area. 
Participants offered reflections on the value 

of mobile markets, food hubs, and community 
kitchens as a way to address transportation and 
mobility barriers, especially in the more rural 
parts of the region. Themes emerged around 
the value of co-locating food processing and 
food business incubator services within existing 
infrastructure. Participants felt that there are 
many community kitchens in the region, from 
schools to churches, that are under-utilized. It 
was felt that the city should invest in kitchen 
infrastructure to support more back-to-
scratch cooking opportunities and also invest 
in workforce development within the areas of 
growing, cooking, processing, and transporting 
the region’s food. 

Food Retail Environment and Food Access
When participants were asked what stood out 
to them in the food retail environment and 
food access data the most frequently cited data 
points were what was felt to be a high number of 
restaurants and eateries in comparison to a low 

Reflecting on the agricultural 
landscape: 
“We need a better assessment or 
tracking system to understand the 
processing capacity of the area, we need 
a tracking app, especially one that can 
address food waste diversion. We also 
need to track farms to understand how 
much is going into production in our 
own local area.” - Community Member

Reflecting on food production:
“I grow at home, trying to grow stuff, but 
it’s a battle. The winds are always knocking 
things down, critters get things, there’s 
grasshopper infestation, hail and snow, 
hail took it all out. The soil is rocky and not 
really friendly - I spend hours tending to 
soil and making raised bed gardens to sift 
rocks out. The soil is just different here and 
we need education, resources, and support 
to help us grow our own food. I might be 
able to increase what I produce to sell it if I 
had some help.” - Community Member

C O M M U N I T Y  E N G A G E M E N T  R E P O R T C O M M U N I T Y  E N G A G E M E N T  R E P O R T

CFSA Community Engagement Report 2024 | Pinnacle Prevention 6



number of retailers that accept and participate 
in different nutrition assistance programs. At 
least half of the individuals who participated 
in the community conversations identified as 
currently participating in at least one form of 
nutrition assistance. Participants shared various 
experiences with participating in nutrition 
assistance programs that helped to stretch 
their food dollars. Food cost barriers emerged 
as a key theme impacting food purchasing and 
consumption practices. Participants expressed 
an interest and appreciation for the farmers 
markets in the area, but also shared that 
purchasing local food at the farmers market 
feels cost prohibitive. 

The quality and freshness of the food were 
also frequently identified as a motivational 
factor that impacts food purchasing behaviors. 
Participants described dissatisfaction with the 
quality of produce at the surrounding grocery 
stores. Participants shared a desire to have 
confidence in the quality of products. There was 
strong motivation to have local options, and this 
included a desire to know where the produce 
comes from and how it was grown, as well as 
increasing opportunities for community members 
to be able to have the tools and education to 
know how to grow their own foods. 
Indigenous participants described the impacts 
of the loss of traditional food systems. They 
acknowledged that the CFSA recognized many 
of the farmers in the region as Indigenous, 
yet felt the traditional growing practices and 
knowledge are not being passed down to 
younger generations. This included the need for 
supporting Indigenous meat processing facilities 
and infrastructure. Participants expressed 
importance in traditional foodways being taught 
both in schools, and outside of school settings. 

Food Consumption and Health
When participants were asked what data stood 
out to them in the food consumption and health 
section of the CFSA, most participants were 
not surprised to see that none of the northern 
Arizona counties are meeting fruit and vegetable 
intake recommendations. Participants expressed 
a desire to consume more healthy, fresh, local 
food options, but went on to describe cost as the 
biggest barrier to being able to afford the healthy 
food they want to consume. Many individuals 
went on to describe and relate to the fact that 
the high cost of housing is impacting almost 
every aspect of life and living. Many participants 
described depending on food banks and food 
pantries and shared concern about the lack of 
healthy options. Of the few individuals that were 
familiar with nutrition incentive programs, many 
described a desire to see the city invest in more 
healthy food incentive options and increase 
awareness about opportunities, such as the 
Double Up Food Bucks Supplemental Nutrition 
Assistance Program (SNAP) fruit and vegetable 
incentive program. Participants also shared a 

Reflecting on Indigenous foodways: 
“We need to go back to the traditional way of learning how to produce, instead of solely relying 
on stores which has been a difficult way to keep food on the table. Today’s teachings on the 
food system do not happen, the children must travel back home to see it. A lot of students 
today have not been around livestock or traditional practices. Many students come from 
reservations, but they all come from a different background (ranches, homes, etc.). Those living 
in the homes may have land with cattle, but they do not sell it. It is mainly to sustain their family 
and to keep familial traditions. The mindset is not to make a large amount of money, it is mainly 
about helping others and being self-sustaining.” - Community Member

Reflecting on affordability: 
“The farmers market is not cheap. I go 
through there because I like to be there, but 
I can’t afford to buy anything or any of those 
good foods. We need more food pantries 
that prioritize choice.” - Community Member

“As far as the farmers markets are 
concerned when you go to a farmers market 
the produce is more expensive, so the 
farmers market feels bougie. It would be 
nice to have a farmers markets that caters 
to all income levels.” - Community Member

“Food donations without choice is really 
demoralizing and hard.” - Community Member

C O M M U N I T Y  E N G A G E M E N T  R E P O R T C O M M U N I T Y  E N G A G E M E N T  R E P O R T

CFSA Community Engagement Report 2024 | Pinnacle Prevention 7



desire for the city to incentivize more healthy 
food retail options, both restaurant eateries and 
grocery stores. They expressed a desire for fewer 
fast-food options that were perceived to be less 
healthy and a demand for healthier options.
Educators who work with children and young 
adults and individuals with children shared a 
desire of wanting children to have a chance to 
try new healthy foods. They expressed interest in 
seeing a comprehensive approach to supporting 
healthy food options for children from what is 
served in schools, to more school gardens, to more 
education and cooking demonstrations on how to 
cook and prepare healthy foods. It was felt that 
efforts such as these would improve the health 
of children and their families. Educators also 
described the value of having young adults work 
and help out on the farms in the region. It was felt 
that this would increase awareness of how food is 
grown and healthy options, while also meeting a 
job needs for both students and farmers. 

Food Waste and Recovery
Participants in all conversations and across all age 
groups and demographics were overwhelmingly 
surprised and shocked by the food waste data 
in the CFSA. They expressed concerns that 
Arizona as a whole was identified as producing 
the most food waste in the nation. Different 
themes emerged in each conversation regarding 
perceptions of what was contributing to and 
impacting food waste the most in northern 
Arizona. Participants cited concerns with the 
amount of grocery and restaurant waste. They 
expressed varied understanding of beliefs 
around the associated liability issues and 
expressed a desire for the city to work with 
the local area pantries on improved hot food 
recovery options and perishable community 
fridge options to improve access for those most 
disparately impacted by food insecurity. There 
was differences in understanding of composting 

Reflections on healthy students and 
opportunities: 
“We all love community gardens, but the maintenance is 
hard. Gardens do not have summers off and that is the 
hardest thing with school-based gardens. We need to 
create more opportunities to take kids out to farms to 
assist farmers. This both lightens the load with farmers 
and serves as a path forward for kids who need jobs. 
Grants could pay kids to help farmers. High school 
students want jobs and want to be on the land and want 
to be healthy. We should incentivize something like that 
here in Flagstaff.” - Community Member

practices with a theme emerging around 
beliefs that only those growing food would 
also participate in composting. This correlation 
was especially evident within the community 
conversation that centered young adults. Within 
demographic trends, young adults and seniors 
expressed the greatest concern in prioritizing 
food waste and recovery practices. 
 
Making Meaning of the Data and Points 
of Confusion
Participants shared appreciation for all of the 
various CFSA data in helping to provide an overall 
picture of the northern Arizona food system, 
while also expressing confusion with how to 
make sense of the data. Themes emerged in all 
conversations in questioning whether a data point 
was ‘good’ or ‘bad’. Participants often questioned 
how to understand data sources. There were 
themes in confusion around percentages that 
were offered and a desire to understand how 
interconnected issues may be impacting metrics. 
Participants expressed a desire for comparative “I can really relate to the data 

point that none of us are 
meeting fruit and veggie intake 
recommendations. I grew up 
not eating fruits and veggies 
and now it’s hard because I 
don’t know what to do. My 
kids and I have been taking 
classes in how to incorporate 
more fruits and veggies into 
our diets, but it’s a struggle 
because I didn’t know anything.” 
- Community Member

Reflections on food waste and 
recovery: 
“It’s strange that 44% say they are 
composting, but only 14% report growing 
their food. What’s the purpose of 
composting if you aren’t going to grow? 
This is a strange percentage, so the city 
should dig into this more. Maybe people are 
composting, but unsure what they are doing 
with it. I don’t know.” - Community Member

“I live in an apartment, and I would like to 
have a community garden. The city should 
provide an incentive for a community 
gardens and recycling and composting at all 
apartments. We have so much passion and 
knowledge in this room. People just need 
more information and incentive. This would 
cut down waste.” - Community Member

C O M M U N I T Y  E N G A G E M E N T  R E P O R T C O M M U N I T Y  E N G A G E M E N T  R E P O R T

CFSA Community Engagement Report 2024 | Pinnacle Prevention 8



data sources with similar ‘peer’ communities and 
with statewide averages across different counties. 
Participants also expressed a desire to dig deeper 
into trends over time. 

 

Participants shared an interest in digging 
deeper into food insecurity data in particular 
and described opportunities to tell the larger 
story around food insecurity, especially as it 
is associated with high housing costs and the 
high cost of living in general. Participants also 
expressed a desire to better understand the data 
around how many individuals and households are 
growing and producing their own foods. In making 
sense of the data, participants shared that a better 
understanding of home food production could 
serve as an opportunity to grow small businesses 
and opportunity to bring in additional money 
be selling small, such as selling through farmers 
markets. 

Food System Barriers and Challenges that 
Should be a Priority Focus Area for the 
City of Flagstaff
Overall, community conversation participants 
expressed the greatest challenges to the regional 
food system stem from lack of infrastructure and 

distribution. Participants felt that the biggest 
barrier to overcoming challenges in this area were 
cost related. Participants shared that lack of funds 
exist to expand food processing infrastructure 
and shared a concern that food producers do 
not have enough personnel, or ‘human power’, to 
expand capacity to improve distribution. Many 
participants expressed feelings that tourism is 
prioritized over community resident needs and 
that this contributes to funding gaps that aren’t 
being filled. Participants cited a belief that taking 
care of community first would result in a healthier 
region overall. 
 

Reflections on How to Make 
Sense of the Data: 
“How do I know that I should be 
concerned about these data points and 
with so many different data points they 
all seem concerning and hard to prioritize 
where to focus.” - Community Member

When asked to think to the future and where 
community members would like to see the City of 
Flagstaff invest time, energy, and resources themes 
emerged in the following areas:

• Priority opportunity theme 1: Increasing food 
hubs across northern Arizona. 

• Priority opportunity theme 2: Improving 
partnerships that are focused on food 
distribution challenges and innovations.

• Priority opportunity theme 3: Incentivizing 
healthy food options to be more affordable.

• Priority opportunity theme 4: Making it more 
possible/accessible for northern Arizona to 
grow their own food.

When reflecting on the possibility of a future 
strategic food business opportunity community 
kitchen business incubator spaces were named 
as a feasible focus area. Participants shared 
opportunities to utilize underutilized kitchen 
spaces that could nurture business development 
and influence many of the data metrics across all 
sections of the CFSA from addressing production, 
processing, hunger, and waste. Participants shared 
successful examples from other states, such as 
Colorado and Oregon, that they believed could 
be replicated in Flagstaff and in partnership with 
existing resources. 

Reflections on future 
opportunities to address 
challenges: 
“I want to see the City allocate time and 
money with helping with distribution of 
food and spend time trying to get grants 
to help with distribution. Location is 
important, especially if you don’t have 
a car and transporting groceries can be 
difficult.” - Community Member

Reflections on the intertwined 
connections with tourism: 
“I understand we are dependent on 
tourism, but it seems their needs are 
prioritized over the residents. How do we 
change that?” - Community Member

“Tourism brings in a lot of money for 
Flagstaff, however the community is still 
struggling to afford food and housing. There 
is a need for local-only discounts, policies 
on short-term and long-term rentals, and 
more affordable grocery stores rather than 
restaurants.” - Community Member

“Do not forget about the community. 
Flagstaff needs to say no to tourists, and 
yes to its community.” - Community Member

C O M M U N I T Y  E N G A G E M E N T  R E P O R T C O M M U N I T Y  E N G A G E M E N T  R E P O R T

CFSA Community Engagement Report 2024 | Pinnacle Prevention 9



Stakeholder Gatherings
Summary of Findings

Stakeholder Gatherings

The CFSA community engagement project 
included two (2) stakeholder gatherings. In-
person stakeholder gatherings were hosted at 
the Coconino Center for the Arts in October 
2024. The gatherings had a total of 75 people 
register and an actual participation reach of 
47 stakeholders with the average group size 
consisting of 24 stakeholders and lasting 
approximately two and a half hours. Stakeholders 
were invited through the City of Flagstaff and 
Flagstaff Foodlink networks. Stakeholders were 
defined as professionals, partners, and advocates 
who have a vested interest in improving the 
northern Arizona food system. Participants 
represented the following sectors: emergency 
food, private business, transportation, academia, 
farms, faith-based, city government, county 
government, nonprofit, healthcare, and tribal 
organizations.

Stakeholder Gathering Themes

The goals of the stakeholder gatherings mirrored 
the community conversations and focused on 
reflecting on key data points from the CFSA 
report and sharing priorities to inform the 
development of the future Food Action Plan and 
strategic food business opportunity. A summary 
of themes that emerged from the stakeholder 
gatherings were categorized into the following 
overarching themed areas:

• CFSA data themes that sparked curiosity 
within each of the six focus areas.

• Priorities for Flagstaff’s food future.
• Stakeholder recommendations.

CFSA Points of Interest

Agricultural Landscape and Food Production 
Themes
In reflecting on the agricultural landscape 
and food production data stakeholders were 
most curious about the number of farms and 
ranches in the region and surprised at the 
number of Indigenous producers. There was 
interest in better understanding more about 
who the farmers and ranchers are. Small 
group conversations shared interest in making 
Indigenous farming ‘more visible’ and interest 
in understanding if Indigenous producers were 
interested in scaling and selling at markets. 
There was also interest expressed among 
stakeholders in increasing direct to consumer 
sales opportunity.

 

Food System Infrastructure Themes
In reflecting on the food system infrastructure 
data stakeholders were most curious about the 
dissatisfaction with zoning regulations and 
wanting to better understand what specific 

zoning regulations were impacting food 
businesses the most and what opportunities 
there were to streamline and improve zoning 
challenges. Stakeholders also discussed interest 
in improving access to commercial kitchens and 
food production spaces that already exist for 
shared use opportunities to address the most 
immediate infrastructure needs. Stakeholders 
that are or represented farmers also noted that 
you can’t address infrastructure without also 
addressing labor and the importance of increasing 
on-farm labor support for all farmers across the 
region. Small group discussions also touched on 
the need for culturally relevant processing facilities, 
especially to support traditional foodways among 
Indigenous producers and ranchers. 
 

Food Retail Environment Themes
In reflecting on the food retail environment data 
stakeholders were most curious about what was 
perceived to be a high number of restaurant 
eateries versus a low number of food grocery 
outlets. There were also themes in conversations 
around the cost of local food and curiosity if 
there was capacity or interest among local food 
producers to get more local foods into local 
food retail outlets. Stakeholders also discussed 
concerns about what is perceived to be a low 
number of retail outlets that accept Supplemental 
Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) and 
Women, Infants, and Children (WIC) benefits. 
 
Food Consumption and Health Themes
In reflecting on the food consumption and 
health data stakeholders were most curious 
about the percentage of income being spent 
on food and how that impacts the quality and 
types of food being purchased. Stakeholders 
also remarked on the high cost of food and how 
that impacts affordability of ‘healthy’ versus 
‘unhealthy’ options for northern Arizona residents. 

“We still don’t have the full data and 
picture to see the impact on agriculture 
landscape and production post COVID. 
We are still feeling the impact of so much 
loss from the pandemic.” - Stakeholder

“There are so many hidden costs related 
to infrastructure and business operations 
that make it hard. There’s hidden costs 
in distribution - from fuel, to where the 
food is coming from, to licensing fees, 
to liabilities and making sure no one is 
getting sick from your food and how it is 
processed. We need to address all of those 
barriers.” - Stakeholder

“The missing piece in Flagstaff is to 
have smaller markets embedded in the 
community to be able to get smaller 
necessities and have it within walking and 
biking distance.” - Stakeholder

C O M M U N I T Y  E N G A G E M E N T  R E P O R T C O M M U N I T Y  E N G A G E M E N T  R E P O R T

CFSA Community Engagement Report 2024 | Pinnacle Prevention 10



Stakeholders also discussed the importance of 
making healthy food options available in schools 
and offering growing, cooking, and nutrition 
education to support health of students of all ages.

Food Access Themes
In reflecting on the food access data stakeholders 
were most curious about the perceived low 
percentage of people interested in growing food 
and perceived low number of people interested 

in increasing access to more farmers market 
opportunities. Stakeholders continued to discuss 
other local food access outlet opportunities 
beyond farmers markets to interest in community 
fridges, food hubs, and more delivery options. 
 
Food Waste and Recovery Themes
In reflecting on the food waste and recovery 
data stakeholders were most curious about the 
amount of waste. Small group conversations 
focused on the perceived misinformation 
around liabilities around food recovery and 
re-distribution and the amount of food that is 
thrown out at grocery stores if it is perceived to 
be ‘flawed’. 

“There’s an assumption here that people 
have choices and the ability to make 
healthy choices, but the truth of the matter 
is that they might not. The cost of living 
in Flagstaff is high and it is compounded 
with high cost of food prices and this limits 
choice and therefore impacts health.”  - 
Stakeholder

“The data tells me that people seem to be 
comfortable shopping at the large grocery 
stores. Markets seem to be more of a cute 
thing rather than a place for getting weekly 
groceries.”  - Stakeholder

 
Stakeholder Priorities for Flagstaff’s 
Food Future
Stakeholders were asked to reflect on the six 
focus areas within the CFSA and then asked to 
rank and prioritize the top areas that they feel 
should be prioritized in the development of the 
Food Action Plan. Stakeholder priorities by CFSA 
domain ranked as follows:

Stakeholder Recommendations
Stakeholders were asked to share one priority 
recommendation that the City of Flagstaff could 
focus on for future food business development. 
The following themes emerged:
• Focus on supporting food recovery businesses.
• Encourage climate-smart crop production 

among existing farm businesses in the region.
• Implement innovative incentive programs to 

assist with local food distribution.
• Ensure that all city-owned buildings and spaces 

are equipped with climate-smart infrastructure, 
such as water catchment systems, solar, and 
free publicly accessible composting stations 
and support the production of food on these 
city-owned spaces.

“I want to better understand what 
percentage of food waste is occurring 
in each local food level. What is the 
amount of food waste here in Flagstaff 
at the production, transportation, and 
store levels? This would help to inform us 
what to do next or what level to address 
or prioritize first that could result in the 
biggest impact.”  - Stakeholder

Priority focus areas from most important 
to least with 1 being the top priority and 6 
being the lowest stakeholder priority

1 Food access

2 Agricultural landscape and food production

3 Food retail environment (Tie with #4)

4 Food system infrastructure (Tie with #3)

5 Food waste and recovery

6 Food consumption and health

C O M M U N I T Y  E N G A G E M E N T  R E P O R T C O M M U N I T Y  E N G A G E M E N T  R E P O R T

CFSA Community Engagement Report 2024 | Pinnacle Prevention 11



Summary of Conclusions and Recommendations

The findings from the CFSA community engagement project provide direct insight into community 
member and stakeholder experiences, perceptions, and needs to shape and grow a sustainable 
community food system for northern Arizona. Recommendations offered by the community and 
stakeholders, including opportunities to consider, are highlighted in each of the engagement sections. 
In addition, general recommendations that summarize and highlight overall findings offer the following:

Strategic Food Business Development 
Opportunities:
Consider developing or resourcing the following 
potential food business opportunities based 
on combined insight from both the community 
conversations and stakeholder gatherings as 
informed by the CFSA data:

• Business development opportunity 1: 
 Food hub development with a focus on 

aggregation and distribution. This could be 
developed in conjunction with the existing 
resiliency hubs.

• Business development opportunity 2: 
 Expand access to commercial kitchen 

business incubator spaces. This could leverage 
existing spaces and infrastructure for shared 
cooperative opportunities. 

• Business development opportunity 3: Develop 
a farmer workforce/apprenticeship initiative. 
This could be youth-focused and implemented 
in collaboration with FUSD with a focus 
on developing future career pathways and 
addressing existing workforce shortages among 
area farmers. 

In conclusion, the community engagement efforts 
found that the CFSA provided a comprehensive 
picture of the northern Arizona food system 
and sparked deep curiosity among community 
members and stakeholders that are passionate 
and committed to growing a more robust and 

sustainable local food system. The engagement 
effort served as an opportunity for nurturing 
connection, building trust, and setting pathways 
to continue shared decision-making between the 
city of Flagstaff and northern Arizona community 
members. 

Food Action Plan Development Recommendations: 

• Priority focus areas to consider in the 
development of the food action plan 
are food access, food production, 
food infrastructure, and the food retail 
environment.

• Integrate culturally-relevant cross-cutting 
strategies that center Indigenous food 
ways across all priority areas.

• Add city-led food action plan strategies 
that integrate climate-smart infrastructure 
to support food production.

• Conduct a deeper analysis of city zoning 
regulations to better understand which 
regulations are perceived to be the most 
impacting food businesses.

• Align food action plan efforts with other 
existing plans, such as general plans and 
community health improvement plans to avoid 
duplication of effort and maximize resources.

• Center youth and student-led development 
opportunities that engage the next generation 
in food system initiatives.

C O M M U N I T Y  E N G A G E M E N T  R E P O R T C O M M U N I T Y  E N G A G E M E N T  R E P O R T

CFSA Community Engagement Report 2024 | Pinnacle Prevention 12



Appendix

City of Flagstaff Community Food Conversation Discussion Guide

Introduction Hello, my name is (insert name) and I am joined by (insert notetaker/translator names). We 
work with Pinnacle Prevention, an Arizona-based nonprofit, working on behalf of the City 
of Flagstaff and Flagstaff Foodlink. 

We have invited you here today to reflect on the findings from the recent community food 
system assessment and share your wisdom with us on the findings and the issues that feel 
the most pressing to you to prioritize to support the growth of a sustainable food system 
within the City of Flagstaff and the Northern Arizona region. When I say ‘food system’ I 
am referring to the many different elements of a cycle that bring food to our tables from 
growing, transporting, processing, buying, preparing and cooking, as well as disposing and 
reuse.

Your input is part of a collaborative multi-year commitment by the city and partners that 
will inform the development of an action plan to make improvements in how we grow, 
access, buy, and support local food producers.

There are no right or wrong answers during our conversation today. When we talk in a 
group like this, it allows for people to agree or disagree depending on their personal beliefs 
or experiences. This is a good thing, so it is important that we respect each other and 
any differences that may be shared. Remember, you are the experts and know your 
community the best. You hold power in the wisdom you share. We are here to listen 
and learn from you.

Goals/
Purpose 
Summary

So, in summary, the goals for our time together today are to:
• Reflect on and be in conversation around some key highlights from the community food 

system assessment;
• Understand your perspectives on overall needs, gaps, and barriers; and,
• Listen and learn about what should be prioritized in future planning and policy efforts.

Supporting 
Safety, 
Trust, and 
Transparency

Your voice and the wisdom that you share today are important. Some of what you identify 
as priorities today may be things that can be implemented and addressed in the near 
future and then some things that you may request may be things that will take a couple of 
years to plan and implement as they may require securing additional resources, funding, or 
changing policies. Even though you may not see action right away, leaders take what you 
share seriously and are committed to supporting long-term change. Everything you share 
will be summarized in a final report provided back to the City of Flagstaff for them to use 
in designing their future planning efforts around your needs. While we are using nametags 
today so that we know who you are, your names and information will not be identified 
or used in the final report. We will not be asking very sensitive questions today, but you 
don’t have to share anything that you don’t feel comfortable sharing. You will see us taking 
notes to make sure that we accurately capture the important wisdom that you share with 
us. This report will be made available on the city website for you to see and access in late 
fall and you may also request copies of the final report from the community conversations 
from us as well. Our contact information will be shared with you at the end of our time 
together today. Feel free to get up to use the restroom or attend to anything you need to 
during our time together today. We respect your time. We are scheduled to be together 
for approximately one and a half hours. After the discussion you will be receiving a Visa 
gift card in appreciation for your time and participation today. 

What questions or concerns can I answer before we begin? 

Ice-Breaker 
and 
Introductions

Let’s start with introductions and have you share the following:
1)  Your first name, and
2)  Your favorite food.

Introducing 
the 
Community 
Food System 
Assessment 
Key Data 
Highlights

The City of Flagstaff completed a 12-month long assessment of the regional food 
system last year, in 2023. This includes conducting surveys, interviews, and focus group 
conversations as well as examining data to give us a picture of the current food landscape 
here in Northern Arizona. The assessment focused in on six (6) distinct areas including:
1)  The agricultural landscape and food production
2)  Food system infrastructure
3)  The food retail environment
4)  Food consumption and health, 
5)  Food access, and
6)  Food waste and recovery
The final assessment is available on the city website, and you also have a printed copy 
available to you today. We are going to reflect on some key highlights from each of those 
six areas. We will also refer to some summary handouts that we will share with you as we 
go and as we reflect together.

C O M M U N I T Y  E N G A G E M E N T  R E P O R T C O M M U N I T Y  E N G A G E M E N T  R E P O R T

CFSA Community Engagement Report 2024 | Pinnacle Prevention 13



Agricultural 
Landscape 
and Food 
Production

Let’s start with the agricultural landscape and food production. (Refer to printed report 
and summary handout for reference). This looks at where our food comes from, from 
farming and ranching to backyard gardening.

Some highlights on the agricultural landscape and food production section of the 
assessment identified that Northern Arizona is home to just over 11,000 farms and 
ranches; however, we are seeing a decreasing loss in the numbers of farms and ranches and 
agricultural acreage. Most producers in the region are Indigenous and the top five crops 
produced are hay for foraging, wheat for grain, corn, vegetables, and grass seed crops.

• What stands out to you the most from the information in this section and why did it 
catch your interest or curiosity?
Probes:
o When you say [X], why do you feel that is important?

• How would you like to see the City of Flagstaff collaborate with food producers to 
increase their production?
Probes:
o What resources would you like to see provided to food producers?
o When you say [X], why do you feel that is important?

Food System 
Infrastructure

We are going to move on to the next section now, which is food system infrastructure. 
(Refer to printed report and summary handout for reference). When we say infrastructure, 
we are thinking about food is moved from farms and then processed and distributed out 
to the community.

Some highlights from this section of the assessment identified that there are limited 
numbers of food processing facilities, especially livestock and meat processing facilities, 
in the region; 83% of survey respondents that manufacture a food product do so at home 
versus in a commercial/certified kitchen; 24% of food and farming businesses expressed 
dissatisfaction with zoning regulations that impact their businesses; and, there is a lack of 
distribution infrastructure in Northern Arizona limits food and farm business’ ability to sell 
beyond their immediate communities.

• What surprised you in the findings here?
Probes:
o When you say [X], why do you feel that is important?

• In what ways do you think the City of Flagstaff can build infrastructure resources and 
support to benefit the northern region as a whole in producing and making more local 
foods available?
Probes:
o What have you seen or heard about that has been done elsewhere that you would 

like to see done here in Flagstaff?

Food Retail 
Environment 
and Food 
Access

Moving into the food retail environment and food access sections – this looks at how 
and where food is purchased by consumers from stores to restaurants, and more. Food 
access means looking at what community do or do not have access to when it comes to 
affordable, culturally relevant, and nutrient dense food options. (Refer to printed report 
and summary handout for reference).

Some highlights from the food retail section of the assessment identified that the City 
of Flagstaff is home to 3 farmers markets, 1 community supported agriculture site (also 
known as a CSA where farmers provide produce boxes for direct purchasing and pickup 
to their customers), 18 grocery stores, 14 convenience stores, and 276 restaurants and 
eateries. The assessment also found that Flagstaff shoppers are mostly getting food from 
grocery stores; 14% of survey respondents grow, hunt, or fish for their food; 26% of survey 
respondents would buy more local food if it were affordable; and only 20% of shoppers are 
satisfied with their grocery options.

When it comes to food access, the community food assessment identified that Northern 
Arizona experiences higher rates of food insecurity than the state average. The City of 
Flagstaff has 16 food pantries and/or food assistance sites, 12 retailers that accept SNAP 
EBT benefits (formerly known as food stamps), 7 retailers that accept WIC (Women, Infants, 
and Children) eWIC (or EBT) food benefits, and 3 sites that offer Double Up Food Bucks, 
which is the SNAP EBT fruit and veggie matching program. In addition, 19% of survey 
respondents reported wanting more farmers market options in the region and 14% of 
respondents want more information or knowledge on how to grow their own food.

• What stands out to you the most from the information in this section and why did it 
catch your interest or curiosity?
Probes:
o When you say [X], why do you feel that is important?

• In what ways do you think the City of Flagstaff elected leaders and other leaders in the 
region can support a stronger food retail environment and make local food more accessible?
Probes:
o What factors should leaders be aware of, that you feel most impacts you, your 

friends, and neighbors’ ability to shop for local foods?
o We know that the location of food retail environments is important. Where do you 

feel there are neighborhoods within the City of Flagstaff that should be prioritized 
and why those neighborhoods?

• In what ways do you think the City of Flagstaff should be involved in reducing hunger 
to support a more food secure community?
Probes:
o What populations or groups do you feel should be centered or prioritized and why?
o What do you think could be done to result in a more accessible and equitable food 

system?

C O M M U N I T Y  E N G A G E M E N T  R E P O R T C O M M U N I T Y  E N G A G E M E N T  R E P O R T

CFSA Community Engagement Report 2024 | Pinnacle Prevention 14



Food 
Consumption 
and Health

The food consumption and health section reflects on the food we eat and how that 
impacts the wellbeing of individuals and our communities. (Refer to board for visual and 
printed copies for reference).

Some highlights from this section of the assessment identified that Northern Arizona 
shoppers spend 11% of their total consumer spending on food; 66% of food spending is 
on food consumed at home; None of the Northern Arizona counties are meeting fruit and 
vegetable intake recommendations; 21% of survey respondents report not being able to 
afford the healthy food they want; and, the high cost of housing was reported as a barrier 
to healthy eating.

• What stands out to you the most from the information in this section and why did it 
catch your interest or curiosity?
Probes:
o When you say [X], why do you feel that is important?

• In what ways do you think the City of Flagstaff can increase the availability of healthy 
and culturally relevant food options?
Probes:
o What would this look in the more rural areas of Northern Arizona and what factors 

should leaders consider?

Food Waste 
and Recovery

The last section of the assessment examined data around food waste and recovery. When 
we are thinking about food waste and recovery, we are talking about how food that 
doesn’t get eaten is recovered, shared, composted, or landfilled. (Refer to board for visual 
and printed copies for reference).

Some highlights from this section of the assessment identified that Arizona produces the 
most food waste in the nation of all of the states. 5.8 million pounds of food are wasted 
each year in the City of Flagstaff. There are 8 food waste and composting organizations 
operating in the City of Flagstaff, however there are limited options for hot food recovery 
from restaurants and caterers. 44% of survey respondents report already composting 
at home and 11% of survey respondents listed eliminating waste as a top personal 
food system goal. From the business lens, 19% of Flagstaff businesses indicated that a 
composting program would support their business development.

• What surprised you in the findings here?
Probes:
o When you say [X], why do you feel that is important?

• What efforts would you like to see the City of Flagstaff lead, implement, or expand to 
reduce food waste?
Probes:
o What have you seen or heard about that has been done elsewhere that you would 

like to see done here in Flagstaff?

Future 
Thinking

Now we want you to think to the future of one strategic food or farm business 
opportunity that you would like to see happen here in Flagstaff. There are some limitations 
in what can and cannot be done, but we just want you to dream together. So, based on 
all of the data we reflected on and discussed today - when it comes to food, farming, and 
wellbeing – where could the City of Flagstaff invest some and energy to test and pilot? 
This could be something like developing a more robust food hub or commercial community 
kitchen, or something completely different. Share with me what you would like to see.

Probes:
• What have people in your neighborhood said they would like to see more of?
• When you say [X], why do you feel that is important?

Closing 
Reflection 
Prompt

What didn’t we ask you that you feel is really important for leadership with the City of 
Flagstaff and other elected officials in the region to know when it comes to supporting a 
thriving and sustainable community food system?

Probes:
• What do you wish people understood better about the needs and desires of you, your 

neighbors, and community?

Wrap-Up Thank you so much for taking the time to be here today and sharing your wisdom with 
us. As I mentioned at the beginning of our conversation, we will use the information you 
shared with us to help the City of Flagstaff and Flagstaff Foodlink develop a food action 
plan and identify policy opportunities that are the most meaningful to all of you and the 
priorities you shared. As a reminder, some of the recommendations you offered might be 
possible to implement soon and other recommendations may take some time. Other needs 
you shared may require resources and support outside of what the City of Flagstaff can 
offer, but the insight is still valuable for informing how the city can collaborate with others.

You will be receiving a Visa gift card in appreciation for your time and participation before 
you leave today. (Facilitator explain how the Visa gift card works and obtain signature of 
receipt).

C O M M U N I T Y  E N G A G E M E N T  R E P O R T C O M M U N I T Y  E N G A G E M E N T  R E P O R T

CFSA Community Engagement Report 2024 | Pinnacle Prevention 15



C O M M U N I T Y
FOOD SYSTEM ASSESSMENT

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF &
NORTHERN ARIZONA

2024



III. INTRODUCTION

What is a Food System? 

Our Food System Assessment Process
06
08

IV. SYSTEM OVERVIEW

09
14
16
18
19
23

Agricultural Landscape & Food Production

Food System Infrastructure 

Food Retail Environment

Food Consumption & Health

Access to Food

Food Waste & Recovery

25VI.  GLOSSARY

26VII. SOURCE NOTES

C O M M U N I T Y

F O O D  S Y S T E M

A S S E S S M E N T

Table of
Contents

II. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

04
05

Acknowledging the Land

Acknowledging People

24V.  NEXT STEPS

03I.  FOREWORD

All photos in this document were provided by the City of Flagstaff Sustainability Office, 
Flagstaff Foodlink, and our food system partners.



The City of Flagstaff Community Food System Assessment represents a collaborative effort,
reflecting the dedication and advocacy of those committed to establishing a sustainable and
equitable food system. We recognize and thank them for their efforts. 
 
This report is the culmination of the initial phase of the city’s 3-year “Assessing & Growing a
Sustainable Community Food System” project to deepen our understanding of the challenges and
opportunities related to food access and distribution throughout Northern Arizona. While the
primary focus of this assessment is on the City of Flagstaff, we want to honor Flagstaff’s
interwovenness with neighboring communities and counties. As such, the assessment also includes
findings from Coconino, Mohave, Apache, Navajo, and Yavapai counties. Without them, a
sustainable, local, and accessible food system could not exist. 
 
This assessment has three overarching goals. The first is to establish a comprehensive understanding
of the northern Arizona and Flagstaff Food System, identifying both assets to strengthen and
obstacles to overcome to achieve a sustainable food system. The second is to create a baseline of
crucial food system metrics that can be monitored over time, enabling the community to measure
progress in building a resilient and just food system. Finally, the assessment sets the stage for
actionable policy, recommendations, and the development of a forthcoming Community Food Action
Plan, laying the groundwork for meaningful change and improvements in our food system.  
 
The City is committed to enhancing urban agriculture as a means of creating a sustainable, resilient,
equitable, and thriving food system. This report will serve as a tool to enact strategic policy and
investment strategies to address key barriers and leverage existing strengths to improve public
health, foster community building, and increase capacity of the local food system to better serve the
needs of residents. These findings will also support the incorporation of sustainable food systems
strategies into policy guiding plans such as the Flagstaff Carbon Neutrality Plan and 2045 Regional
Plan.  
 
Community engagement is vital to this process, as it fosters creative partnerships, brings a diversity
of voices into decision-making processes, promotes equity, and advances community-driven goals.
We invite all community members to engage with this project to cultivate a sustainable, resilient, and
equitable food system in Northern Arizona for the benefit of all.  To learn more and contribute to this
project, you can visit our website at www.flagstaff.az.gov/NAZFSA. 

Foreword
From the City  of  F lagstaff ,  Mayor ’s  Off ice

“This  report  wi l l  serve as  a  tool  to  enact
strategic  pol icy  and investment strategies
to address  key barr iers  and leverage
exist ing strengths  to  improve publ ic  health,
foster  community  bui ld ing,  and increase
capacity  of  the local  food system to better
serve the needs of  res idents .”

Becky Daggett ,  Mayor

03

https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/4900/Assessing-Growing-a-Community-Food-Syste
https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/4900/Assessing-Growing-a-Community-Food-Syste
http://www.flagstaff.az.gov/NAZFSA
http://www.flagstaff.az.gov/NAZFSA


The City of  Flagstaff  humbly acknowledges the

ancestral  homelands of  this  area’s  Indigenous nations

and original  stewards.  These lands,  st i l l  inhabited by

Native descendants,  border mountains sacred to

Indigenous peoples.  We honor them, their  legacies,

their  tradit ions,  and their  continued contributions.  We

celebrate their  past ,  present,  and future generations,

who wil l  forever know this  place as home.

The project  team for this  Community Food System

Assessment recognizes that this  acknowledgment does

not replace action.  We commit to bui lding meaningful

relat ionships with stewards of  this  land and deepening

our understanding of  how this  history impacts our food

system today.

Acknowledging the Land

C O M M U N I T Y  F O O D  S Y S T E M  A S S E S S M E N T

04

S U M M E R  2 0 2 4



This  assessment was supported by the energy and input  of
res idents  and community  partners  a l ike.  

                                    who took the t ime to complete 

the community-wide survey,                               focus

group part ic ipants who shared their  t ime and wisdom

with us,  and                               community organizations

who part ic ipated in the social  network analysis .

1 ,000+ RESIDENTS 

THIRTY-FOUR

THIRTY-THREE

Part icular  thanks are  extended to:  

A very  special  thanks to:

THE PROJECT STEERING COMMITTEE
who met mult iple t imes throughout the project  

to dig deep into the data,  ask great questions,  

and shape the assessment that fol lows.  

ART LEEDS
Rocking L3 Ranch  |  Farmer & Rancher

GAYLE GRATOP 
UA Cooperative Extension  |  Agent - Family,
Consumer, and Health Sciences

ELIZABETH TAYLOR 
Arizona Department of Agriculture (AZDA) Food
& Policy Advisory Committee (FAPAC)  |  Chair

MELISSA ECKSTROM 
Flagstaff Foodlink  |  Board Co-President

PETER FRIEDERICI 
NAU Sustainable Communities  |  
Director, Rural Foods Pathways Project

SANDRA LUBARSKY 
Flagstaff College and Communiversity |
President

Acknowledging People

STEERING COMMITTEE MEMBERS

SUMMER WHITE
Food and Waste Sustainability Supervisor 

NATALIE PIERSON 
Food Systems Coordinator

NICOLE ANTONOPOULOS
Sustainability Director

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
SUSTAINABILITY OFFICE

SUMMER GRANDY
Food Systems Coordinator

FLAGSTAFF FOODLINK

EILEEN HORN   |
MAYA ATLAS   |
JULIA LAROUCHE   |

NEW VENTURE ADVISORS

           Team Lead

           Project Manager

                 Research Associate

C O M M U N I T Y  F O O D  S Y S T E M  A S S E S S M E N T

05



The “food system” is  the process  food fol lows 
as  i t  moves from the farm to your  table

What is a Food System?

C O M M U N I T Y  F O O D  S Y S T E M  A S S E S S M E N T S U M M E R  2 0 2 4

OUR FOOD SYSTEM VALUES

EQUITY
HEALTH

SUSTAINABILITY

FOOD JUSTICE
RESPECT

HUMAN RIGHTS

In the past ,  our food system was mostly self-suff ic ient:  food was
grown, processed,  sold,  consumed,  and disposed of in one place,  and
food choices were restr icted to what could be grown and gathered in
our region.  

Producing food is  a  major economic act iv ity in our region,  but
certain industr ia l  farming pract ices and food waste have negative
impacts on our environment and change our c l imate.  Food is  not
distr ibuted equitably around our communit ies ,  causing health
chal lenges l ike hunger and obesity.  The energy and resources
consumed to grow, harvest ,  process and transport  food in this
global  system are also s ignif icant .

A Food System is  a  cycle that encompasses a range of act iv it ies:

Growing,  foraging,  and ranching;
Processing;  transporting and distr ibuting;  
Retai l ing and marketing;  
Preparation and cooking;  
Eating;  
Waste management;  
Safety;  
Land and water stewardship;  
Environmental  preservation.  

The journey our food takes through the food system is  inf luenced by
our northern Arizona ecosystem, research,  education,  funding,  pol ic ies ,
and our community ’s  r ich cultural  tradit ions.  

When food system act iv it ies  are  local ized,  there  are  more
opportunit ies  to  support  the economy,  reduce transportat ion
emiss ions,  and promote a  healthier  community.  

Today,  our food system is  g lobal ,  and we have unprecedented access
to foods grown around the globe.  This  g lobal  food system impacts the
health of  our people and our planet.

In response,  communit ies l ike ours have looked to food systems
as an opportunity to tackle these chal lenges.  

06



AGRICULTURAL LANDSCAPE &
FOOD PRODUCTION
Where our food comes from. 
This  includes everything from farming 
to ranching to backyard gardening.  

FOOD SYSTEM INFRASTRUCTURE
How food is  moved from the farm 
and then processed and distr ibuted 
to places where people consume it .  

FOOD RETAIL ENVIRONMENT
How and where food is  purchased 
by consumers at  stores,  restaurants ,  
or  cafeter ias .  

FOOD CONSUMPTION & HEALTH
How the food we eat impacts 
the health of  individuals  
and our communit ies .

FOOD WASTE & RECOVERY
How food that doesn’t  get eaten 
is  recovered and shared,  composted,  
or  landfi l led.  

FOOD ACCESS
How community members have 
(or  don’t  have)  access to adequate,
affordable,  and cultural ly  relevant foods.  

S U M M E R  2 0 2 4

KEY AREAS OF THE FOOD SYSTEM

 C O M M U N I T Y  F O O D  S Y S T E M  A S S E S S M E N T

GROWING

REUSING TRANSPORTING

COOKING  
& EATING

PACKAGING

DISPOSING PROCESSING

BUYING

THE FOOD SYSTEM

07



Our Food System
Assessment Process Extensive secondary data collection:

Information was pulled from the key
county, state, and national datasets
that help us understand our food
system. Sources include the U.S.
Census, the USDA Census of
Agriculture, CDC, County Health
Rankings, Feeding America, and local
community health assessments and
reports. 

Community-wide survey:  
Community members from across the
five-county region were invited to
share their experiences and
perceptions of the regional food
system. We received 1,041 total
responses from a variety of food
system participants—consumers,
growers, and food businesses. 

Focus groups:
Thirty-four key food system
stakeholders participated in focus
groups to share their on-the-ground
insights and experiences. Focus
groups covered six food system
audiences:  

Together ,  the City  of  F lagstaff ,  F lagstaff
Foodl ink,  the steer ing committee,  and
the team at  NVA faci l i tated a  twelve
month–long assessment process .

                                The City of Flagstaff
Sustainability Office was awarded a
USDA Urban Agriculture and Innovative
Production grant to support the
development of a northern Arizona food
systems assessment. The community 
food system assessment was designed to
improve the community’s understanding
of gaps and opportunities in the regional
food system and to lay the groundwork
for the creation of recommendations in a
community food action plan for Flagstaff
and the surrounding region. 

                      The City of Flagstaff
contracted with New Venture Advisors
(NVA), a strategy consulting firm
specializing in food system planning and
food enterprise development to
complete this community food system
assessment. The City of Flagstaff
partnered with Flagstaff Foodlink, and a
steering committee of key stakeholders
in the regional food system to inform the
project. 

Components of the Assessment

JANUARY 2023

MAY 2023

Food Retail Outlets 1.

Farmers/Ranchers 2.

Funders in the Food System 3.

Institutional Food Purchasers 4.

Emergency Food Access 5.

Food Waste/Recovery6.

A social network analysis (SNA) was
conducted with representatives from
thirty-three key regional food system
organizations to understand the
connections and relationships
between stakeholders within the food
system. The purpose of this SNA was
to identify central players in the local
food system, understand community
structures, and pinpoint bridge
organizations within these networks.   

Social Network Analysis Together ,  these data provide a
picture of  the northern Arizona and
City  of  F lagstaff  food system,
providing act ionable  ins ights  for
enhancing col laborat ion,  identify ing
potential  areas  for  intervention,  and
support ing decis ion-making
processes  among stakeholders  in  the
food system.  
The SNA is  included in  i ts  own report
document,  access ible  at :
www.f lagstaff .az .gov/NAZFSA

How to Read this Assessment 
Each of the six food system sectors—Agricultural Landscape and Food Production,
Food System Infrastructure, Food Retail Environment, Food Consumption and
Health, Access to Food, and Food Waste and Recovery—contains information about
both the five-county northern Arizona food system (comprising Coconino, Yavapai,
Mohave, Apache, and Navajo Counties) and the City of Flagstaff in these four sub-
sections:

Sector Facts:  These are the key secondary data points for both northern
Arizona and the City of Flagstaff (where city-level data was available).
These mostly quantitative data are generated by government and nonprofit
organizations (i .e. the Census of Agriculture, conducted by USDA).

Survey & Focus Group Findings:  These are the qualitative data from the
community-wide survey and sector-specific focus groups.  

Trends & Challenges:  These are the key findings and themes that emerged
across the secondary data, survey, and focus groups.  

Remaining Questions:  These are the remaining questions that will  require
additional research and community engagement. 

1

Data specif ic  to  the c ity  of  F lagstaff  is  cal led out  in  the
“Flagstaff  in  Focus”  boxes  throughout this  document.

S U M M E R  2 0 2 4 C O M M U N I T Y  F O O D  S Y S T E M  A S S E S S M E N T

2

4

3

08

http://www.flagstaff.az.gov/NAZFSA


MAP 1

Agricultural Landscape
& Food Production

Sector Facts

Where our  food comes from,  including
everything from farming to  ranching to
backyard gardening.

Number of Farms / Ranches (2022) with % Change (2012-2022)

In the last  decade (2012–22) ,  
northern Arizona has seen:  

FARM / RANCH SIZE 
BY ACREAGE (2022)

48% of farms/ranches fa l l  within the
size category of  180–499 acres.

33% fal l  in  the smal lest  category of  1–9
acre farms.     (See Figure 1)  

Northern Arizona farms/ranches
account for just  3.4% of the state’s
agr icultural  sales despite being home to
67% of Arizona’s  agr icultural  acreage.

Total  agr icultural  sales in northern
Arizona in 2022 accounted for 3.4% of
state agr icultural  sales ($178,142,000) .

Of these sales $6,584,000 are local
direct–to-consumer sales.  Between
2017 and 2022,  these direct-to-
consumer sales grew by 60.8%. 

Mohave and Yavapai  Counties have the
greatest  percentage of farms/ranches
sel l ing direct-to-consumer and through
local  channels ,  9.5% and 7.4%
respectively.

Apache,  Coconino,  and Navajo Counties
have the most farms/ranches yet the
least  local  market connectivity (1.5%,
1.8%, and 1.8%, respectively) .

3

4

(See Map 2)

1-9 (33%) 

10-49 (11%)

50-179 (4%)

180 -  499 (48%)

500-999  (1%)

1,000+ (3 %) 

S U M M E R  2 0 2 4

FIGURE 1

 C O M M U N I T Y  F O O D  S Y S T E M  A S S E S S M E N T

Northern Arizona is home to 11,670
farms/ranches, with 17.1 million
acres in production. 

This region represents 70% of all
Arizona farms/ranches and 67% of
the state’s agricultural acreage. 1

10% loss  in  the number of
farms/ranches.  The state lost  16%
over  that  same per iod.                  

4% loss  of  agr icultural  acreage.

Var iat ion in  average farm/ranch
size  change,  ranging from -26%
in Mohave County to +3.8%
in Yavapai  County.  

     (See Map  1)

2

09



MAP 2

Local Food Channels of Northern Arizona



APACHE

COCONINO

MOHAVE

NAVAJO

YAVAPAI

COUNTY COLOR KEY

CATTLE &
 C

ALVES

0

2000

4000

6000

H
O

G
S &

 P
IG

S

SH
EEP &

 L
AM

BS

CH
IC

KEN
S (E

G
G

S)

CH
IC

KEN
S (M

EAT)

4,389

396

1,341

11

PRODUCTION FAST FACTS:

11

NORTHERN ARIZONA FARM/RANCH
LABOR DEMOGRAPHICS

Under 35 (7%)

35-64 (49%)

65+ (44%)

American Indian /
Alaskan Native (81%)

White (16%)

Hispanic /
Lat in X (2%)
More Than 
One Race (0.5%)

Asian (0.2%)

Native Hawai ian /
Pacif ic  Is lander (0.1%)

Black / Afr ican 
American (0.5%)

RACE

AGE

Male (49%)

Female (51%)

GENDER

S U M M E R  2 0 2 4C O M M U N I T Y  F O O D  S Y S T E M  A S S E S S M E N T

Agricultural Landscape &
Food Production Sector
Facts, Continued

FORAGE  (HAY / HAYLAGE)

WHEAT FOR GRAIN

CORN  (TRADITIONAL OR INDIAN)

VEGETABLES HARVESTED

FIELD & GRASS SEED CROPS

3,182 acres

2,104 acres

1 ,083 acres

1 ,007 acres

TOP FIVE CROPS 
BY TYPE & COUNTY (2022)

FIGURE 3

25,997
acres 

FIGURE 4

Sheep and Lambs .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Cattle  and Calves . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Chickens (Eggs) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Hogs and Pigs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Chickens (Meat)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

6,887 farms (98% of AZ)

4,389 farms (75% of AZ)

1,341 farms (63% of AZ)

396 farms (73% of AZ)

11 farms (26% of AZ)

NUMBER OF LIVESTOCK AND POULTRY
FARMS ACROSS NORTHERN ARIZONA :6

Forage (Hay/Haylage) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1 .

Wheat for Grain . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .2.

Corn, Traditional or Indian .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .3.

Vegetables Harvested .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .4.

Field and Grass Seed Crops . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .5.

TOP FIVE CROPS ACROSS THE
REGION BY ACREAGE  :5

25,997 acres

3,182 acres

2,104 acres

1,083 acres

1,007 acres

LIVESTOCK & POULTRY 
FARMS BY TYPE & COUNTY (2022)

FIGURE 2

6,887

Northern Arizona producers rely more
on farming as their primary
occupation (63%) than the state
average (57%). 

Most producers in northern Arizona
are American Indian / Native
American. 

The average producer is 60 years-old. 

19% of the region's farmers are
considered “new and beginner
farmers”, or producing less than ten
years.   

Regionally, 10,916 people are
employed in farm labor. 

62% of farm labor  unpaid, which is
defined as not being on payroll. 

7

8

9

NUMBER OF ACRES 5,0000 10,000 15,000 20,000 25,000



MAP 3

Access to Community Gardens in Flagstaff, Arizona

FLAGSTAFF IN FOCUS

Flagstaff is home to a variety of community
urban agriculture spaces, including more than
nine community gardens, two urban farm
incubator sites, and several school gardens.  
While this map represents the well-established
gardens in Flagstaff, there are likely other
communal growing spaces in the city. 10

MAP 3

SSLUG

Historic South
Side



13

81% of  survey respondents  that  grow food in
Flagstaff  grow on less  than one acre  of  land,  and
66% report  that  they own the land they grow on.  
This  indicates  that  many growers  in  F lagstaff  are
gardeners  and subsistence farmers  versus
individuals  producing food for  business .  

FLAGSTAFF IN FOCUS

Survey & Focus Group Findings

Local direct-to-consumer food sales in the
region are growing, which is a strong
indicator of regional demand for local foods.
However, the small size of farms, lack of
business development resources, and sales
outlets makes it difficult for the agricultural
economy in the region to grow.

Trends and Challenges

How can the City  of  F lagstaff
faci l i tate  better  col laborat ion
between  food producers  and
the resources  they need to
increase product ion and
prof it?

What business  development
tools  can be provided to
support  farmers  and
gardeners  in  increas ing the
prof itabi l i ty  of  their
product ion? 

Are there ways to further
support  urban agr iculture in
Flagstaff?  

What opportunit ies  ex ist
to support  producers
adapt ing to prolonged
drought and c l imate change?

Remaining 
Questions

C O M M U N I T Y  F O O D  S Y S T E M  A S S E S S M E N T S U M M E R  2 0 2 4

Agricultural Landscape &
Food Production, Continued

Accessing land to farm near Flagstaff  is  chal lenging.  The cost of  land is  the
biggest barr ier  to farming near Flagstaff .  Other reported barr iers to farming
were:  extreme weather ,  var iable growing condit ions,  and the cost and
access to water .

There is  interest  among residents in urban agr iculture and programs that
support  food production c loser to Flagstaff .  

Businesses growing and producing food items are eager for col laborat ion
and support  from other businesses.  Whi le resources exist  to support
developing businesses,  there is  a  lack of  awareness about these resources
and how to ut i l ize them. 

The cultural  re lat ionship between food production and food sales on Native
American reservat ion lands leads to an underreport ing of  what is  actual ly
being produced and what is  reported in the USDA’s Census of  Agriculture.
Farmer’s  markets on reservat ion land do not have many vendors,  though
there is  s ignif icant food being produced for shar ing and barter ing.   

In addition to food production for business,
there is significant subsistence and hobby
farming in the region. Hunting, fishing, and
other self-provisioning activities also occur.

Food and farm business owners in northern
Arizona noted that the Flagstaff economy is
very separated from southern Arizona,
which limits the reach of the businesses. 

Producing food is challenging in this region.
Farmers, ranchers, and gardeners noted
climate variability, water access, cost of land,
and distance to market as key challenges.

Food producers growing for business have a
strong desire for increased opportunities to
collaborate with other businesses such as
food processors, manufacturers,
distributors, retailers, buyers, and so on.

Most producers in northern Arizona are
Native American, and cultural differences
around agricultural activities can
undercount food sales and economic impact.

In Northern Arizona, raising of livestock
such as cattle and sheep is a common land
use on vast acreages. Some livestock raised
on Native American lands are used for local
consumption, but most cattle raised on
public lands are not consumed in-state as
processing facilities are lacking.
Ranching and hay production (for animal
feed) are the predominant agricultural
activities in the region.  However, the
growth in direct to consumer sales in recent
years suggest that regional buyers are also
interested in locally-grown fruits and
vegetables as well.



There is  interest  among survey
respondents and focus group  
part ic ipants in services that support
business development and bui ld
col laborat ion (such as a food hub) .  

Most survey respondents (83%) that
manufacture a food item do so at  home
versus in a commercial/cert i f ied kitchen.

  
Surveyed residents of  Flagstaff  are
processing (canning,  freezing,  preserving)
food for personal  use rather than
commercial  sales and are sat isf ied with
the resources they have access to.   

Among individuals  processing food for
retai l  sa le ,  there is  some interest  in
resource sharing via a food hub (storage,
sales ,  etc. )  or  an incubator kitchen to
support  new business development.  

 
The lack of  regional  meat processing
faci l i t ies is  a  barr ier  to ranchers looking
to raise,  process,  and sel l  meat products.

  
Farms within range to sel l  produce to
Flagstaff  struggle to get product to
Flagstaff  because of the distance,
var iable c l imate,  and lack of  staff ing.
There are some farm-run init iat ives to
support  distr ibution in the region,  but
there are not enough options.   

When asked about famil iar ity with
Flagstaff  business development services,
the major ity of  respondents answered
“unfamil iar”  to a l l  n ine mentioned.  Of the
organizat ions l isted,  Flagstaff  Foodl ink
was the most ut i l ized with 16% of
businesses having interacted with them.

  
When asked about zoning regulat ions
that impact their  food or farm business,
24% of respondents expressed
dissat isfact ion.  

Survey & Focus Group Findings

The lack of  processing (meat processing
and commercial  k itchen space)  outside
of the c ity centers l imits  food
producers '  abi l i t ies to expand
production and sales.  

The current lack of  distr ibution
infrastructure (e .g . ,  food hubs)  has led
businesses to col laborate,  shar ing
del iver ies ,  bui lding on-farm processing,
and contract ing direct ly with farmers.
However,  the lack of  distr ibution
infrastructure also l imits  their  abi l i ty      
to sel l  beyond their  immediate
communit ies .  

The distance between food producers
and resources (k itchens,  processing,
storage,  customers,  etc. )  is  a  s ignif icant
barr ier  to start ing and growing
businesses in the region.

  
Businesses in this  sector expressed
interest  in increasing col laborat ion    
with farmers and other food system
stakeholders.  

There is  a  need for increased funding
opportunit ies to support  business
development.   

Food System
Infrastructure Trends and Challenges

How food is  moved from the farm or
ranch,  then processed and distr ibuted
to places  where people  consume it .

Sector Facts

C O M M U N I T Y  F O O D  S Y S T E M  A S S E S S M E N T S U M M E R  2 0 2 4

Northern Arizona is home to food
processing facil ities (predominantly
bakeries), but commercial kitchen,
slaughter, and storage facil ities are
limited. The majority of these
resources are clustered around city
centers, with very few in the
northern half of the study region.

SHARE OF AGRICULTURAL SALES (%)
 BY TYPE & COUNTY (2022)

FIGURE 4

While four of the five counties in
this study region produce
significantly more livestock than
crops, there are limited numbers of
livestock processing facil ities,
especially in the rural areas. 
(Figure 4) 

APACHE
COUNTY

0

20

40

60

80

100

COCONINO
COUNTY

MOHAVE
COUNTY

NAVAJO
COUNTY

YAVAPAI
COUNTY

5-COUNTY
REGION

STATE OF
ARIZONA

LIVESTOCK & POULTRY
PRODUCTS

CROPS

SALES COLOR KEY

How can Flagstaff  bui ld
infrastructure that  supports  the
region as  a  whole  in  producing
more local  foods?  

What opportunit ies  ex ist  to  scale
current  smal l -scale  infrastructure
to serve a  larger  market?  

Remaining  Questions

(See Map 4)

14



MAP 4

Food System Infrastructure of Northern Arizona

The c ity  of  F lagstaff  is  home to:  

FLAGSTAFF IN FOCUS

5 food manufactur ing faci l i t ies  (baker ies  & tort i l ler ias)
3 Arizona Department of  Agr iculture  custom-exempt
meat and poultry  establ ishments ,  
2  warehousing and storage faci l i t ies ,  and 
1 one shared commissary k itchen (no ovens/stoves)  11

Meat Processing Definitions:

Federal Inspection (USDA): The U.S.
Department of Agriculture’s Food
Safety and Inspection Service (USDA
FSIS) provides this type of inspection.
Federally-inspected products can be
shipped over state lines and
internationally.
State Inspection: State inspection
programs must be “at least equal to”
federal inspection in terms of regulatory
rigor. The federal Cooperative Interstate
Shipment Program allows state-
inspected meats from qualifying plants
to be shipped across state lines.                  
Custom-Exempt: A custom-exempt
plant can only slaughter and process
livestock for the exclusive use of the
livestock owner(s). These products
cannot be sold. 



Local  Flagstaff  shoppers mostly get
food from grocery stores.  Farmers
markets are among their  top four
shopping outlets ,  preceded by
tradit ional  grocery stores,  restaurants ,
and food warehouses ( l ike Costco or
Sam’s Club) ;  14% of respondents grow,
hunt,  or  f ish for their  food.

In Flagstaff ,  58% of respondents dr ive
less than 5 mi les to access a grocery
store.  

The high cost of  food was mentioned by
46% of Flagstaff  respondents;  26%
would buy more local  food if  i t  were
affordable.   

Only 20% of shoppers stated that they
are sat isf ied with their  grocery options.

  
The Flagstaff  CSA serves an important
role in providing consistent access to
local  food to residents and a consistent
sales outlet  for  local  farmers.   

Rural  areas of  northern Arizona have
very few retai l  food options.
Individuals  rely on gardening,  ra is ing
animals ,  and purchasing direct ly from
food growers.   

The majority of Navajo and Apache
counties qualify as “low income and
low access,” which means that
residents of urban areas don’t have  a
grocery store within a half mile of
their home and rural residents have to
travel more than ten miles to access a
grocery store. 

Food Retail
Environment Food stores are concentrated near

urban and suburban centers ,  with few
options in rural  areas of  the region.  

Communit ies l iv ing on Native
American reservat ion land have very
few stores to buy from, and the stores
they do have offer  only l imited food
options.  

The lack of  local  food outlets and food
distr ibution for local  food has led to
direct purchasing from farms by
restaurants and businesses who want
to source and sel l  local  foods.  

The high cost of  food is  a  chal lenge
for many in the region,  and local ly
grown food is  perceived as being
especial ly  expensive and hard to
access.   

Survey and Focus Group Findings Trends and Challenges

How and where food is  purchased by
consumers  at  stores ,  markets ,
restaurants ,  cafeter ias ,  etc .  

Sector Facts

What is  needed to make local
food more access ib le  in  grocery
or  restaurant  sett ings?   

What strategies  ex ist  to  ensure
that  a l l  food out lets  in  the
region are stocked with a  fu l l
and diverse se lect ion of  foods?  

What strategies  ex ist  to  make
food more affordable?  

How can the e lected leaders  in
the region support  a  stronger
food retai l  environment?

Remaining  Questions

(See Map 5)

C O M M U N I T Y  F O O D  S Y S T E M  A S S E S S M E N T S U M M E R  2 0 2 4

20 Farmers Markets 
4 Community Supported Agriculture
(CSA)/Food Hub Enterprises 
139 Grocery Stores 
135 Convenience Stores 
9 Specialty Food Stores 

Northern Arizona is home to many
food sales outlets    :   12

Food retail channels that offer local
food sales in the study region are small
in numbers, but help generate $6.6
mill ion in direct-to-consumer sales. 14

Local food can be found in school meal
programs. There are thirty-five schools
in northern Arizona serving local food,
and seven have edible gardens. 15

The c ity  of  F lagstaff  is  home to   :  

FLAGSTAFF IN FOCUS

3 Farmers Markets,  
1 CSA, 
18 grocery stores, 
14 convenience stores, 
0 specialty food stores, and 
276 restaurants and eating places.  

13

16



MAP 5

Food Retail Locations in Flagstaff, Arizona



1-4

5-8

9-11

12-15

MAP 6

All five northern counties have:  

Food Consumption 
& Health
How the food we eat  impacts  the health
of  individuals  and our  community.  

County-Level Community Health 
Survey Results 

Sector Facts

On average, northern Arizona
residents spent $7,845 / household on
food in 2021, which is approximately
11% of their total consumer spending
and is considerably less than the state
average spending on food per
household ($10,245).  

Of total food spending, 66% is on food
consumed at home, 19% of which is
spent on fruits and vegetables.  

93% priorit ized access to
affordable,  healthy foods (2022)  21

43% cited obesity** as top
personal  health chal lenge (2021) 23

56% had concerns/ chal lenges*  
accessing nutr it ious foods (2023) 22

48% report being obese, the highest
chronic illness concern in Navajo (2023) 24

63% report  eating  < 5 servings of
fruit  & vegetables dai ly  (2023)  25

Apache County

Coconino County

Mohave County

Navajo County

Yavapai County

Assessments in each county revealed residents’
needs and priorities related to food and nutrition:  

Arizona Health Outcomes Map

RANKINGS BY COUNTY (2023)

Health Outcomes tell  us how long people l ive on
average within a community, and how much
physical and mental health people experience in 
a community while they are alive.

21% of survey respondents in the
region reported that they can’t
afford to buy the healthy food they
want.

7% of survey respondents said that
universal  free school  meals  would
help them access food more readi ly .

Healthy foods are scarce on
reservat ion land,  and the grocery
stores there don’t  offer  much
variety.  

The high cost of  housing in northern
Arizona is  a  barr ier  to eat ing healthy
food,  as high housing costs compete
with food costs in family budgets.

10% of Flagstaff  survey respondents
said they would l ike to see Flagstaff
focus i ts  efforts  on healthy food
education and programming.  

Survey and Focus Group Findings

In Coconino County, access to food and nutritional
security was one of the top four identified needs (along
with housing, behavioral health, & transportation).

* 

In Mohave County, 23% of survey respondents reported
that it was “somewhat difficult” or “very difficult” 
to access fresh fruits and vegetables 

**  Parts of  northern AZ lack access to    
healthy food;  residents struggle to meet
recommended intakes of
fruits/vegetables.

This  lack of  access to healthy foods is
part icular ly acute in rural  areas and on
reservat ion lands.

Lack of  access to healthy food
contr ibutes to negative health impacts
in the region (obesity /diabetes /  lower
l i fe expectancy) .  In fact ,  three of the
f ive counties in northern Arizona rank
among the least  healthy in the state.  

Affordabi l i ty of  healthy food is  a  key
barr ier ,  and the r is ing cost of  housing in
the region makes i t  even more diff icult
for fami l ies to afford healthy food.  

Trends and Challenges

How can the City of Flagstaff and
regional leaders attract new  or
support existing healthy food outlets,
especially in rural parts of the region?

Remaining  Questions

How can the City of Flagstaff help
remove barriers to residents achieving
healthier diets?
What programs and policies can be
implemented to provide more
education around accessing healthy
foods? 

C O M M U N I T Y  F O O D  S Y S T E M  A S S E S S M E N T S U M M E R  2 0 2 4

Three of the five northern Arizona
counties (Apache, Mohave, and Navajo)
consistently hold bottom rankings (out
of fifteen total Arizona counties) for all
county health ranking categories. 16

Zero of five counties meet daily fruit
intake recommendations and only three
of five counties (Apache, Coconino, and
Yavapai) meet the lower limits of
adequate vegetable intake.  17

Navajo and Apache Counties both have
large populations of Native Americans.
Native Americans or Alaskan Native
adults are 50% more likely to be obese
than non-Hispanic Whites. 20

Lower life expectancies than the Arizona
state average; 
Higher age-adjusted death rates, as well
as higher child and infant mortality rates
compared to the state averages; 
Limited access to healthy foods compared
to the state average.  19

Apache, Mohave, and Navajo
Counties exceed state averages for
the following health metrics that
are impacted by food and nutrition:

Poor / Fair Health            
(Apache, Mohave, Navajo)
Adult Obesity (Apache, Mohave,
Navajo)
Diabetes Prevalence (Apache,
Navajo) 18

18



Regional 
Food Access
Locations*

12

(See Maps 7a & 7b)

Northern Arizona (90%)

Flagstaff  (10%)

Access To Food

Sector Facts

How community  members  have 
(or  don’t  have)  access  to  adequate,
affordable,  and cultural ly  re levant  foods.  

C O M M U N I T Y  F O O D  S Y S T E M  A S S E S S M E N T S U M M E R  2 0 2 4

Food insecurity rates in this region
are higher than the state average.
Navajo and Apache Counties have
the highest rates of food insecurity
in the region.  

Participation in SNAP is significant, and 
the regional need is stil l  not being met.

SNAP PROGRAM

(See Map 8)

376 

FOOD ACCESS LOCATIONS N.AZ

145

123

64

6

16

12

7

3

38

338

Individuals on reservation lands
participate at 3-4 times the AZ average.

There are more residents that are income
eligible for this program but do not
actively util ize the program.  

Northern Arizona residents are
participating at a higher rate (12.7%)  
than the rest of the state (10.1%)

28

*Regional Food Access locations include charitable
food locations such as food pantries or communal
meal sites, retailers accepting SNAP benefits,
retailers accepting WIC coupons, and Double Up
Food Bucks program locations.

Regional food insecurity > State Average
Trends and Challenges

How can the City of Flagstaff and local
organizations increase enrollment in
SNAP for income-eligible individuals
and families? What practical barriers
stand in the way? 

How can institutions in Flagstaff
(government entities, schools,
hospitals) increase access to healthy
food?

How can the City and local
organizations meet residents’ needs for
education and resources related to
self-provisioning? 

Why are so many more children food
insecure than adults?  What can local
leaders do to address this?

Remaining  Questions

Eliminating hunger was the highest ranked
food system goal for survey respondents.

Survey & Focus Group Findings

Children, Hispanic, Black, and Native
American populations suffer from higher
food insecurity rates across the region. 

SNAP benefits are not as widely used as
they could be based on income eligibil ity.

Housing and util ity costs compete with
money for food available in family budgets. 

Flagstaff residents have greater access to
charitable food distribution programs than
residents l iving in rural northern Arizona.

Residents actively share food with
neighbors to combat food insecurity.

There is strong interest in services that
would teach residents where and how to
grow/harvest their own food. 

(See Map 9)

In northern Arizona, 13.3% of the
population is food insecure, compared
to the statewide rate of 10.3%. This
means that 103,210 people in this
region don’t have enough food to eat
and do not know where their next meal
will come from.  

Food insecurity rates are even higher
among children (18.6%). 

Racial minorities experience food
insecurity at a higher rate than non-
Hispanic White populations: Native
American (22%), Black (13.32%), and
Hispanic (13–19%).  

26

27

FOOD PANTRIES, BACKPACK
POGRAMS, SENIOR MEAL 
SITES, ETC. 29

N.AZ

RETAILERS ACCEPTING SNAP 30

RETAILERS ACCEPTING WIC 31

DOUBLE UP FOOD BUCKS 
PROGRAMS 32

 
Survey responses show that residents
of Navajo and Mohave County travel
the greatest distance to reach food at
distribution sites, sometimes up to
150 miles one way; surveyed residents
from the Flagstaff region travel 5-15
miles.

32% of respondents rely on food
distribution sites weekly; 18% util ize
these services 1-2 times per month.

Residents are often not able to find
fresh, local food to purchase with
SNAP benefits.

Flagstaff residents are interested in
finding ways to feed themselves
outside the food retail system;  52%
would like information about  how to
grow/hunt/fish for their own food.  
14% surveyed support themselves now
by growing, hunting, or fishing for
their own food.

Flagstaff residents are coping with
food insecurity by supporting their
neighbors, with over 50% sharing food
in the last twelve months. 

Flagstaff resident participation in
SNAP (7.7%) is nearly half that of the
region average (12.7%) 

When asked what community services
would help them access food more
easily, the top three responses were
local food–related:

19% want more farmers markets; 
14% wish to gain knowledge on how
to grow food; 
12% would l ike access to community
gardens to grow food in the city. 

33

19



MAP  7a MAP  7b

Overall Food Insecurity in Northern Arizona (2021) Child Food Insecurity in Northern Arizona (2021)

C O M M U N I T Y  F O O D  S Y S T E M  A S S E S S M E N T S U M M E R  2 0 2 4



% of Eligible Individuals Not Receiving SNAP Benefits  (Northern AZ)

MAP  8

56% of  F lagstaff  survey
respondents  do not  know
how to s ign up for  
SNAP,  WIC,  Senior
Farmers  Market  Nutr it ion
Program coupons,  and
other  government food
programs.  

FLAGSTAFF IN FOCUS30.9 %
30.7 %

49.1 %

20.9 %

24.3 %

PERCENTAGE 
OF ELIGIBLE

INDIVIDUALS
NOT RECEIVING

SNAP IN AZ 
IS 34.2%

ARIZONA



Food Access Locations in Northern Arizona  
Compared to Low Income / Foodstore Access Areas 

NOTES:
Food Access Locations include
charitable food locations
sponsored by St .  Mary’s  Food
Bank (e.g.  Mobi le & Emergency
Food Pantries /  Grocery Rescue
/ Senior Food Boxes /  Backpack
Program) and retai lers  accepting
SNAP/WIC/DUFB benefits

LEGEND

LOW
COUNT

HIGH
COUNT

# #

SINGLE FOOD 
ACCESS LOCATION

MULTIPLE FOOD 
ACCESS POINTS

#

LOW-INCOME & 
LOW-ACCESS TO 
SUPERMARKET AT
1/2 MILE & 10 MILES

Low-income census tracts are
where a s ignif icant share of
residents are more than ½ mile
(urban)  or  10 miles (rural )  from
the nearest  supermarket.

When the number of  features a
cluster  includes increases,  the
size or  shape of  the   c luster
symbol  increases proportional ly .
Al l  locations counted in the
cluster  are in a  "near"  proximity.   

FOOD ACCESS
LOCATION CLUSTER

MAP  9



Process wasted food into 
nutrient-r ich soil  amendment 

and/or break down with a 
biodigestor to create energy.

COMPOST

SOURCE REDUCTION

Reduce the volume of
surplus food generated:

Produce, buy and serve only
what is  needed.

FEED HUNGRY PEOPLE

Donate and redistr ibute extra
food to neighbors,  shelters

and foodbanks,  or repurpose
for your own use.

FEED ANIMALS

Turn wasted food into animal
feed, or leave f ield crops

unharvested to be used for
grazing or plowed in.

INDUSTRIAL USES

Provide waste oi ls for
creating biofuels and soil

amendments.

WASTE

LANDFILL = 
LAST RESORT 

While Arizona was ranked #1 in the
country for food waste, Flagstaff has
many initiatives to support the reduction
of food waste. 

 
At the household, corporate, university,
and municipal levels, there are significant
efforts being taken in Flagstaff to
decrease food waste. 

Confusion about the health codes,
inspection, and zoning processes around
compost are restrictive to residents and
businesses looking to manage their food
waste. 

Flagstaff is a leader in food recovery
efforts, but the recovery of hot food from
restaurants and caterers stil l  poses a
logistical challenge. 

Food Waste &
Recovery
How food that  doesn’t  get  eaten is
recovered and shared,  composted,
or  landf i l led.

Trends and Challenges Food Recovery Heirarchy

Survey & Focus Group Findings

What efforts  can the City  of
Flagstaff  lead to scale  up current
food waste reduct ion programs?

What can res idents  do to decrease
food waste?  

How can food waste reduct ion
efforts  a lso increase access  to
food for  F lagstaff  and the
surrounding areas?

Remaining  Questions

C O M M U N I T Y  F O O D  S Y S T E M  A S S E S S M E N T S U M M E R  2 0 2 4

44% of Flagstaff survey respondents
already compost at home. 

11% of respondents l isted eliminating
food waste as a top personal food
system goal.

19% of Flagstaff businesses identified
that a composting program would
support their business development.  

Flagstaff is home to many formal and
informal composting programs and
relationships between business owners
and farmers. 

Flagstaff survey respondents are more
likely to participate in a free drop-off
compost program than a paid curbside
pickup program. 

Residents and business owners alike
reported misunderstandings of zoning
barriers and health department
regulations as barriers to composting.

Organizations like the Arizona Food
Bank Network are leveraging their
proximity to the large growing regions
of Mexico to repurpose industrial scale
food waste.

Northern Arizona University is making
significant efforts to institutionalize
their food waste management program
with a strong focus on waste diversion.
Since July 2022, 48.24 tons of organic
waste has been diverted from landfil l
and turned to usable compost. 38

Through the Flagstaff Sustainability
Office Residential Food Scraps Program,
approximately 29,457 pounds of food
was diverted from the landfil l  between
November 2022 and November 2023. 37

from most  to  least  preferred.

23

There are robust programs for
recovering whole foods (i .e.,  food
recovery from gardens, grocery
stores), but there are very limited
options for hot food recovery (i .e.,
food from restaurants and caterers). 

There are eight local food waste,
composting, and recovery programs
operating in the city of Flagstaff.

Sector Facts

5.87 mill ion pounds of food are
wasted each year in the city of
Flagstaff, resulting in 4,002,061
pounds of annual CO2 emissions
(1,815 metric tons). That’s the
equivalent of using 204,265 gallons
of gasoline.  36

$9.5 bil l ion worth of food is wasted
each year in Arizona, the most in the
nation,   with the average household
producing 4.17 lbs of food waste
every week. 35

34



The f indings  from this  community  food system assessment
wi l l  help  te l l  the story  of  the current  state  of  the northern
Arizona regional  food system.  

COMMERCIAL/ INCUBATOR KITCHEN
A fully equipped commercial food processing facility designed to allow multiple

entrepreneurs or food processing operators to grow their businesses by providing a

licensed or certified kitchen space with food and packaging equipment. 

Next Steps
GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

C O M M U N I T Y  F O O D  S Y S T E M  A S S E S S M E N T

The work above wi l l  result  in  a  City  of  F lagstaff  food
action plan that  establ ishes  tangible  goals  and
strategies  for  bui ld ing a  more robust ,  sustainable ,  and
equitable  food system for  the future.  

                         
       
The City of Flagstaff, Pinnacle Prevention, Flagstaff
Foodlink, NVA, and other partners will facil itate a robust
public engagement process to take this information to the
community. 

The City will host a series of community conversations
with residents of Flagstaff to share the findings of the
assessment and to hear their ideas for potential
businesses, policies, needed funding, and program
solutions that the City should consider.  

NEXT:

FLAGSTAFF IN FOCUS

Join our email l ist to stay updated with project activities
and additional ways to participate. 

Contact the City of Flagstaff
Sustainability Office
sustainability@flagstaffaz.gov 

COMMUNITY GARDEN 
Community gardens are collaborative projects on shared open spaces where

participants share in the maintenance and products of the garden, including

healthful and affordable fresh fruits and vegetables. 

COMMUNITY SUPPORTED AGRICULTURE (CSA) 
A CSA involves consumers who support a farmer financially by paying for a share of

the farm's production prior to each growing season. The arrangement allows farmers

to buy the seeds, transplants, and other inputs they need for the growing season and

pay their farm labor without waiting until harvest to generate revenue. The

customers will share in the successes or failures of the farmer.  

COUNTY HEALTH RANKINGS 
Annual County Health Rankings measure vital health factors, such as high school

graduation rates, obesity, smoking, unemployment, access to healthy foods, the

quality of air and water, income inequality, and teen births in nearly every county in

America. The annual Rankings reveal how the built environment and socioeconomic

factors influence health. 

DIRECT-TO-CONSUMER MARKETING 
Where local producers engage with consumers face-to-face at roadside stands,

farmers' markets, pick-your-own farms, on farm stores, and community-supported

agricultural arrangements (CSAs). 

DOUBLE UP FOOD BUCKS 
A program that doubles the value of federal SNAP benefits spent at participating

markets and food retail stores, helping people bring home more healthy fruits and

vegetables while supporting local farmers.  

EQUITY 
Equity is the fair and just distribution of resources, access, and opportunity.  It is the

process of developing, strengthening, and supporting policies and procedures that

prioritize the distribution of resources to those who have been historically and are

currently marginalized.

Visit the City of Flagstaff project website.

LEARN MORE AND GET INVOLVED:

24

https://docs.google.com/forms/d/e/1FAIpQLSepWu7q9qVuA3Rz-m89rwgp9aGVMvVdoWLLWdBOIYMzDjkg5g/viewform
mailto:sustainability@flagstaffaz.gov
http://www.flagstaff.az.gov/NAZFSA


FOOD INSECURITY 
Food insecurity is the limited or uncertain availability of nutritionally adequate and 

safe foods or limited or uncertain ability to acquire acceptable foods in socially

acceptable ways. Food-insecure households lack enough food for an active, healthy life. 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS, CONTINUED

FOOD JUSTICE 
Food justice ensures that the benefits and risks of where, what, and how food is

grown, produced, transported, distributed, accessed and eaten are shared fairly.

Food Justice is seen in communities exercising their right to grow, sell, and eat

healthy food. Healthy food is fresh, nutritious, affordable, culturally-appropriate, and

grown locally with care for the well-being of the land, workers, and animals. People

practicing food justice leads to a strong local food system, self-reliant communities,

and a healthy environment. 

FOOD SYSTEM 
This is the process food follows as it moves from the farm to your table. It

encompasses a range of activities, including growing, foraging, and ranching;

processing; transporting and distributing; retailing and marketing; preparation and

cooking; eating; waste management; safety; land and water stewardship; and

environmental preservation. The journey our food takes through the food system is

influenced by our northern Arizona ecosystem, research, education, funding, policies,

and our community’s rich cultural traditions. 

ORGANIC
USDA-certified organic foods are grown and processed according to federal

guidelines addressing, among many factors, soil quality, animal raising practices,

pest and weed control, and use of additives. Organic producers rely on natural

substances and physical, mechanical, or biologically based farming methods to the

fullest extent possible. Produce can be called organic if it’s certified to have grown

on soil with no prohibited substances applied for three years before harvest.

However, many crops are organically grown but do not carry the USDA certified

organic label because the certification process can be expensive for small farms.  

SOCIAL NETWORK ANALYSIS 
SNA is a methodological approach for examining the relationships and interactions

among individuals or groups within a specific network, in this case, a food system.

The process entails collecting data on the connections among entities, representing

these connections graphically, and analyzing the graph through mathematical and

statistical techniques. 

SPECIAL SUPPLEMENTAL NUTRITION PROGRAM FOR WOMEN, INFANTS,
AND CHILDREN (WIC) 
The WIC program provides federal grants to states for supplemental foods, health

care referrals, and nutrition education for low-income pregnant, breastfeeding, and

non-breastfeeding postpartum women, and to infants and children up to age five

who are found to be at nutritional risk. 

SUSTAINABILITY 
Sustainability is often defined as “meeting the needs of the present without

compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.” It includes

environmental, social, and economic sustainability. 

SUPPLEMENTAL NUTRITION ASSISTANCE PROGRAM (SNAP) 
The largest federal nutrition assistance program, SNAP provides benefits to eligible low-

income individuals and families via an electronic benefits transfer (EBT) card. This card

is used like a debit card to purchase eligible food in authorized retail food stores.

USDA LOW INCOME, LOW ACCESS 
The United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) identifies areas of low food

access based on certain low-income and low-access criteria. Low-income (LI) is

defined as a census tract with a poverty rate of 20% or greater, or median family

income at or below 80% of the statewide or metropolitan area median family

income. Low-access (LA) is defined as a low-income census tract with at least 500

people or 33% of the tract’s population living more than one mile (urban areas) or

more than ten miles (rural areas) from the nearest supermarket or grocery store. 

VALUE-ADDED PROCESSING  
Value-added processing is a means to utilize produce not used for fresh market sales

and the surplus of product during the growing season. Adding value can be

something as simple as sorting fruits and vegetables by size and selling through

unique packaging to the complexity of processing salsa, jams, jellies, chutney, and

meat animals. 

FOOD HUB 
A business or organization that actively manages the aggregation, distribution and

marketing of source-identified food products, primarily from local and regional

producers, to strengthen their ability to satisfy wholesale, retail, and institutional

demand. 

25



SOURCE NOTES 

26

[2] Ibid.

[4] Calculation made by NVA by adding the of number of operations selling

direct-to-consumer to the number of operations with retail, food hub
institutional sales and dividing the sum by the total number of farms. Figures
from USDA NASS, 2022 Ag Census, County Data Arizona, “Table 2. Market Value
of Agricultural Products Sold Including Food Marketing Practices and Value-
Added Products: 2022 and 2017,” accessed February 15, 2024,
https://www.nass.usda.gov/Publications/AgCensus/2022/Full_Report/Volume_1,_
Chapter_2_County_Level/Arizona/st04_2_002_002.pdf.

[5] USDA, National Agricultural Statistics Service, 2022 Census of Agriculture, State

and County Profiles Arizona, accessed March 31, 2024,
https://www.nass.usda.gov/Publications/AgCensus/2022/Online_Resources/County_
Profiles/Arizona/index.php.

[7] USDA, National Agricultural Statistics Service, 2022 Census of Agriculture,

County Data Arizona, “Table 45. Selected Operation and Producer
Characteristics: 2022,” accessed February 15, 2024,
https://www.nass.usda.gov/Publications/AgCensus/2022/Full_Report/Volume_1,_
Chapter_2_County_Level/Arizona/st04_2_045_045.pdf. 

[1] USDA, National Agricultural Statistics Service, 2022 Census of Agriculture,

County Data Arizona, “Table 1. County Summary Highlights: 2022,” accessed
February 15, 2024,
https://www.nass.usda.gov/Publications/AgCensus/2022/Full_Report/Volume_1,_
Chapter_2_County_Level/Arizona/st04_2_001_001.pdf.

[3] Ibid.

[6] USDA NASS, “Table 1. County Summary Highlights: 2022.”

[8] Ibid.; USDA, National Agricultural Statistics Service, 2022 Census of

Agriculture, County Data Arizona, “Table 57. New and Beginning Producers:
2022,” accessed February 15, 2024,
https://www.nass.usda.gov/Publications/AgCensus/2022/Full_Report/Volume_1,_
Chapter_2_County_Level/Arizona/st04_2_055_057.pdf.

[9] USDA, National Agricultural Statistics Service, 2022 Census of Agriculture,

County Data Arizona, “Table 7. Hired Farm Labor—Workers and Payroll: 2022,”
accessed February 15, 2024,
https://www.nass.usda.gov/Publications/AgCensus/2022/Full_Report/Volume_1,_
Chapter_2_County_Level/Arizona/st04_2_007_007.pdf.

[10] City of Flagstaff Sustainability Office, “Flagstaff Community Gardens Story Map,”

accessed December 21, 2023,
https://gis.flagstaffaz.gov/portal/apps/storymaps/stories/cc004b5e15224b54822d78d
a8016a089;  
City of Flagstaff Sustainability Office, “Sustainable Food Systems 2023 Annual
Report,” accessed February 2, 2024,
https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/DocumentCenter/View/77966/2023-Sustainable-Food-
Systems-Annual-Report?bidId=.

[11] SafeGraph, "Places Data," 2023, accessed via ESRI Business Analyst February 19,

2024; Rick Mann, Arizona Department of Agriculture, Animal Services Division,
personal email communication, December 8, 2023. 

[12] Arizona Grown, “2023/24 Specialty Crop Guide,” accessed November 3, 2023,

https://azgrown.azda.gov/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/FMs-and-UPs.pdf;
SafeGraph, “Places Data.”

[14] USDA NASS, “Table 2. Market Value of Agricultural Products Sold.”

[13] Arizona Grown, “2023/24 Specialty Crop Guide”; SafeGraph, “Places Data”; U.S.

Bureau of Labor Statistics, “Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages,” accessed
November 15, 2023,
https://data.bls.gov/cew/apps/data_views/data_views.htm#tab=Tables.

[15] A. Chaifetz et al., “Data to Support a Thriving and Informed Local and Regional

Food Sector,” USDA Food & Agriculture Mapper & Explorer, accessed October 19, 2023,
https://localfoodeconomics.com/data/food-and-agriculture-data-explorer/.

[16] University of Wisconsin Population Health Institute, “County Health Rankings

and Roadmaps,” 2023, accessed October 5, 2023,
https://www.countyhealthrankings.org/explore-health-rankings/arizona?year=2023.

[17] Katharine Sanderson et al., “Advancing Wellbeing in Northern Arizona: A

Regional Health Equity Assessment,” prepared by the Northern Arizona University
Center for Health Equity Research, September 6, 2017, accessed February 12, 2024. 

[20] Partnership with Native Americans, “Food Insecurity and Hunger,” January 23,

2022, accessed February 12, 2024,
http://www.nativepartnership.org/site/DocServer/Hunger_Research_2022_Update.pdf

[19] Ibid.

[18] University of Wisconsin Population Health Institute, “County Health Rankings.”

https://www.nass.usda.gov/Publications/AgCensus/2022/Full_Report/Volume_1,_Chapter_2_County_Level/Arizona/st04_2_002_002.pdf
https://www.nass.usda.gov/Publications/AgCensus/2022/Full_Report/Volume_1,_Chapter_2_County_Level/Arizona/st04_2_002_002.pdf
https://www.nass.usda.gov/Publications/AgCensus/2022/Online_Resources/County_Profiles/Arizona/index.php
https://www.nass.usda.gov/Publications/AgCensus/2022/Online_Resources/County_Profiles/Arizona/index.php
https://www.nass.usda.gov/Publications/AgCensus/2022/Full_Report/Volume_1,_Chapter_2_County_Level/Arizona/st04_2_045_045.pdf
https://www.nass.usda.gov/Publications/AgCensus/2022/Full_Report/Volume_1,_Chapter_2_County_Level/Arizona/st04_2_045_045.pdf
https://www.nass.usda.gov/Publications/AgCensus/2022/Full_Report/Volume_1,_Chapter_2_County_Level/Arizona/st04_2_001_001.pdf
https://www.nass.usda.gov/Publications/AgCensus/2022/Full_Report/Volume_1,_Chapter_2_County_Level/Arizona/st04_2_001_001.pdf
https://www.nass.usda.gov/Publications/AgCensus/2022/Full_Report/Volume_1,_Chapter_2_County_Level/Arizona/st04_2_055_057.pdf
https://www.nass.usda.gov/Publications/AgCensus/2022/Full_Report/Volume_1,_Chapter_2_County_Level/Arizona/st04_2_055_057.pdf
https://www.nass.usda.gov/Publications/AgCensus/2022/Full_Report/Volume_1,_Chapter_2_County_Level/Arizona/st04_2_007_007.pdf
https://www.nass.usda.gov/Publications/AgCensus/2022/Full_Report/Volume_1,_Chapter_2_County_Level/Arizona/st04_2_007_007.pdf
https://gis.flagstaffaz.gov/portal/apps/storymaps/stories/cc004b5e15224b54822d78da8016a089
https://gis.flagstaffaz.gov/portal/apps/storymaps/stories/cc004b5e15224b54822d78da8016a089
https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/DocumentCenter/View/77966/2023-Sustainable-Food-Systems-Annual-Report?bidId=
https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/DocumentCenter/View/77966/2023-Sustainable-Food-Systems-Annual-Report?bidId=
https://azgrown.azda.gov/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/FMs-and-UPs.pdf
https://data.bls.gov/cew/apps/data_views/data_views.htm#tab=Tables
https://localfoodeconomics.com/data/food-and-agriculture-data-explorer/
https://www.countyhealthrankings.org/explore-health-rankings/arizona?year=2023
http://www.nativepartnership.org/site/DocServer/Hunger_Research_2022_Update.pdf


27

SOURCE NOTES, CONTINUED

[22] Coconino County Health and Human Services Department, “Coconino County

Health Needs Assessment,” February 2024, accessed March 31, 2024.
https://coconino.az.gov/DocumentCenter/View/62002/FINAL-2024-CHNA/.

[23] Kingman Regional Medical Center, “Community Health Needs Assessment for

Mohave County 2022,” accessed April 1, 2024,
https://www.azkrmc.com/sites/default/files/2022-
06/Mohave%20CHNA%20Report%20Final%2022-05-22.pdf.

[21] Arizona Cooperative Extension, “2022 Statewide Needs Assessment Survey for

Apache County,” accessed April 3, 2024,
https://extension.arizona.edu/sites/extension.arizona.edu/files/programs/Apache%2
0County%20Report.pdf. 

[24] Navajo County Public Health Services District, “Navajo County Community Health

Assessment 2023,” accessed April 1, 2024,
https://www.navajocountyaz.gov/DocumentCenter/View/1989/CHA-ToC-Clickable?bidId=

[25] Yavapai County Community Health Services, “Community Health Assessment

2022,” accessed April 1, 2024,
https://www.yavapaiaz.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/resident-
services/community-health/documents/ycchs-2022-cha.pdf. 

[26] Feeding America, “Map the Meal Gap 2023: An Analysis of County and

Congressional District Food Insecurity and County Food Cost in the United States in
2021.” Accessed October 18, 2023,
https://map.feedingamerica.org/county/2021/overall/arizona. 

[29] Adriana Salas, St. Mary’s Food Bank, Community Engagement Coordinator,

personal email communication, November 8, 2023.

[28] U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey 5-year Estimates Subject

Tables “Table S2201. Food Stamps/Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program
(SNAP) 2022,” accessed February 18, 2024,
https://data.census.gov/table/ACSST5Y2022.S2201?q=snap&tid=ACSST1Y2022.S2201;
U.S. Census Bureau, “Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) Eligibility
& Access (2017-2019),” accessed December 29, 2023,
https://www.census.gov/library/visualizations/interactive/snap-eligibility-
access.html.

[27] Ibid.

[30] USDA, Food and Nutrition Service, “SNAP Retailer Locator,” accessed January 9,

2024, www.fns.usda.gov/snap/retailer-locator.

[31] Arizona Department of Health, “Arizona WIC Program Authorized Vendors as of

September 2023,” accessed December 21, 2023,
https://www.azdhs.gov/documents/prevention/azwic/az-wic-vendor-list.pdf.

[32] Arizona Double Up Food Bucks webtool, accessed December 21, 2023,

https://www.doubleupaz.org/locations. 

[33] U.S. Census Bureau, “Table S2201. Food Stamps/SNAP.”

[36] Calculation of Flagstaff food waste is based on the 4.17 pounds of food wasted

per week per Arizona household. Conversion to CO2 equivalents was made using
desktop calculator: https://naturbag.com/food-scrap-calculator/.

[34] Jordan Ardoin, “2022’s States That Waste the Most Food,” November 23, 2021,

accessed November 18, 2023, 
https://www.lawnstarter.com/blog/studies/states-that-waste-most-food/. 

[37] Data from City of Flagstaff Sustainability Office, personal email

communication, October 21, 2023.

[38] The Association for the Advancement of Sustainability in Higher Education,

Sustainability Tracking, Assessment, and Rating System, accessed January 28, 2024,
https://reports.aashe.org/institutions/northern-arizona-university-az/report/2023-11-
06/OP/waste/OP-18/. 

[35] MITRE and Gallup, “The State of Food Waste in America,” November 2023,

accessed December 16, 2023, 
https://sites.mitre.org/household-food-waste/wp-
content/uploads/sites/41/2023/11/The-State-of-Food-Waste-in-America-11-14-23.pdf.
Accessed December 16, 2023.

https://coconino.az.gov/DocumentCenter/View/62002/FINAL-2024-CHNA/
https://www.azkrmc.com/sites/default/files/2022-06/Mohave%20CHNA%20Report%20Final%2022-05-22.pdf
https://www.azkrmc.com/sites/default/files/2022-06/Mohave%20CHNA%20Report%20Final%2022-05-22.pdf
https://extension.arizona.edu/sites/extension.arizona.edu/files/programs/Apache%20County%20Report.pdf
https://extension.arizona.edu/sites/extension.arizona.edu/files/programs/Apache%20County%20Report.pdf
https://www.navajocountyaz.gov/DocumentCenter/View/1989/CHA-ToC-Clickable?bidId=
https://www.yavapaiaz.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/resident-services/community-health/documents/ycchs-2022-cha.pdf
https://www.yavapaiaz.gov/files/sharedassets/public/v/1/resident-services/community-health/documents/ycchs-2022-cha.pdf
https://map.feedingamerica.org/county/2021/overall/arizona
https://data.census.gov/table/ACSST5Y2022.S2201?q=snap&tid=ACSST1Y2022.S2201
https://www.census.gov/library/visualizations/interactive/snap-eligibility-access.html
https://www.census.gov/library/visualizations/interactive/snap-eligibility-access.html
http://www.fns.usda.gov/snap/retailer-locator
https://www.azdhs.gov/documents/prevention/azwic/az-wic-vendor-list.pdf
https://www.doubleupaz.org/locations
https://naturbag.com/food-scrap-calculator/
https://www.lawnstarter.com/blog/studies/states-that-waste-most-food/
https://reports.aashe.org/institutions/northern-arizona-university-az/report/2023-11-06/OP/waste/OP-18/
https://reports.aashe.org/institutions/northern-arizona-university-az/report/2023-11-06/OP/waste/OP-18/
https://sites.mitre.org/household-food-waste/wp-content/uploads/sites/41/2023/11/The-State-of-Food-Waste-in-America-11-14-23.pdf
https://sites.mitre.org/household-food-waste/wp-content/uploads/sites/41/2023/11/The-State-of-Food-Waste-in-America-11-14-23.pdf


28

SOURCE NOTES, CONTINUED

MAP 1:  USDA, National Agricultural Statistics Service, 2022 Census of

Agriculture, County Data Arizona, “Table 1. County Summary Highlights: 2022,”
accessed February 15, 2024,
https://www.nass.usda.gov/Publications/AgCensus/2022/Full_Report/Volume_1,_
Chapter_2_County_Level/Arizona/st04_2_001_001.pdf.

MAP 2:  Map 2: Arizona Grown, “2023/24 Specialty Crop Guide,” accessed

November 3, 2023, https://azgrown.azda.gov/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/FMs-
and-UPs.pdf.

MAP 3:  City of Flagstaff Sustainability Office, “Flagstaff Community Gardens

Story Map,” accessed December 21, 2023,
https://gis.flagstaffaz.gov/portal/apps/storymaps/stories/cc004b5e15224b54822d
78da8016a089; GIS Data from City of Flagstaff Information Technology, personal
email communication, December 18, 2023; U.S. Census Bureau, “American
Community Survey 5-year Census Tract Poverty Thresholds,” 2021, accessed via
ESRI Business Analyst, January 4, 2024.

MAP 4:  USDA Food Safety and Inspection Service, “Meat, Poultry, and Egg

Product Inspection Directory,” accessed October 24, 2023,
https://www.fsis.usda.gov/inspection/establishments/meat-poultry-and-egg-
product-inspection-directory; SafeGraph, "Places Data," 2023, accessed via ESRI
Business Analyst February 19, 2024; Rick Mann, Arizona Department of
Agriculture, Animal Services Division, personal email communication,
December 8, 2023.

MAP 5:  USDA Economic Research Service, “Food Access Research Atlas,”

accessed February 7, 2024, https://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/food-access-
research-atlas/download-the-data/; Arizona Grown, “2023/24 Specialty Crop
Guide”; SafeGraph, “Places Data.”

MAP 6:  University of Wisconsin Population Health Institute, “County Health

Rankings and Roadmaps,” 2023, accessed October 5, 2023,
https://www.countyhealthrankings.org/explore-health-rankings/arizona?
year=2023.

MAP 7a:  Feeding America, “Map the Meal Gap 2023: An Analysis of County and

Congressional District Food Insecurity and County Food Cost in the United
States in 2021.” Accessed October 18, 2023,
https://map.feedingamerica.org/county/2021/overall/arizona. 

MAP 7b:  Feeding America, “Map the Meal Gap 2023: An Analysis of County and

Congressional District Food Insecurity and County Food Cost in the United
States in 2021.” Accessed October 18, 2023,
https://map.feedingamerica.org/county/2021/overall/arizona. 

MAP 8:  U.S. Census Bureau, “Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP)

Eligibility & Access (2017-2019),” accessed December 29, 2023,
https://www.census.gov/library/visualizations/interactive/snap-eligibility-
access.html.

MAP 9:  Adriana Salas, St. Mary’s Food Bank, Community Engagement Coordinator,

personal email communication, November 8, 2023; USDA, Food and Nutrition
Service, “SNAP Retailer Locator,” accessed January 9, 2024,
www.fns.usda.gov/snap/retailer-locator; Arizona Department of Health, “Arizona
WIC Program Authorized Vendors as of September 2023,” accessed December 21,
2023, https://www.azdhs.gov/documents/prevention/azwic/az-wic-vendor-list.pdf;
Arizona Double Up Food Bucks webtool, accessed December 21, 2023,
https://www.doubleupaz.org/locations. 

CHARTS: “Share of Agricultural Sales by Type (%)”: USDA, National Agricultural

Statistics Service, 2022 Census of Agriculture, County Data Arizona, “Table 1. County
Summary Highlights: 2022,” accessed February 15, 2024,
https://www.nass.usda.gov/Publications/AgCensus/2022/Full_Report/Volume_1,_Cha
pter_2_County_Level/Arizona/st04_2_001_001.pdf.

EPA GRAPHIC:  Adapted from the Environmental Protection Agency, “Wasted Food

Scale,” https://www.epa.gov/sustainable-management-food/wasted-food-scale, and
City of Austin, Office of Sustainability, “State of the Food System Report 2022,”
https://www.austintexas.gov/sites/default/files/files/Sustainability/Food/2022%20Sta
te%20of%20the%20Food%20System%20Report/SotFS%202022%20-
%20FINAL%20(Smaller).pdf. 

https://www.nass.usda.gov/Publications/AgCensus/2022/Full_Report/Volume_1,_Chapter_2_County_Level/Arizona/st04_2_001_001.pdf
https://www.nass.usda.gov/Publications/AgCensus/2022/Full_Report/Volume_1,_Chapter_2_County_Level/Arizona/st04_2_001_001.pdf
https://azgrown.azda.gov/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/FMs-and-UPs.pdf
https://azgrown.azda.gov/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/FMs-and-UPs.pdf
https://gis.flagstaffaz.gov/portal/apps/storymaps/stories/cc004b5e15224b54822d78da8016a089
https://gis.flagstaffaz.gov/portal/apps/storymaps/stories/cc004b5e15224b54822d78da8016a089
https://www.fsis.usda.gov/inspection/establishments/meat-poultry-and-egg-product-inspection-directory
https://www.fsis.usda.gov/inspection/establishments/meat-poultry-and-egg-product-inspection-directory
https://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/food-access-research-atlas/download-the-data/
https://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/food-access-research-atlas/download-the-data/
https://www.countyhealthrankings.org/explore-health-rankings/arizona?year=2023
https://www.countyhealthrankings.org/explore-health-rankings/arizona?year=2023
https://map.feedingamerica.org/county/2021/overall/arizona
https://map.feedingamerica.org/county/2021/overall/arizona
https://www.census.gov/library/visualizations/interactive/snap-eligibility-access.html
https://www.census.gov/library/visualizations/interactive/snap-eligibility-access.html
http://www.fns.usda.gov/snap/retailer-locator
https://www.azdhs.gov/documents/prevention/azwic/az-wic-vendor-list.pdf
https://www.doubleupaz.org/locations
https://www.nass.usda.gov/Publications/AgCensus/2022/Full_Report/Volume_1,_Chapter_2_County_Level/Arizona/st04_2_001_001.pdf
https://www.nass.usda.gov/Publications/AgCensus/2022/Full_Report/Volume_1,_Chapter_2_County_Level/Arizona/st04_2_001_001.pdf
https://www.epa.gov/sustainable-management-food/wasted-food-scale
https://www.austintexas.gov/sites/default/files/files/Sustainability/Food/2022%20State%20of%20the%20Food%20System%20Report/SotFS%202022%20-%20FINAL%20(Smaller).pdf
https://www.austintexas.gov/sites/default/files/files/Sustainability/Food/2022%20State%20of%20the%20Food%20System%20Report/SotFS%202022%20-%20FINAL%20(Smaller).pdf
https://www.austintexas.gov/sites/default/files/files/Sustainability/Food/2022%20State%20of%20the%20Food%20System%20Report/SotFS%202022%20-%20FINAL%20(Smaller).pdf




City of Flagstaff 
Sustainability Office

United States Department of Agriculture
Urban Agriculture & Innovative Production Grant

A s s e s s i n g  &  G r o w i n g  a  

S u s t a i n a b l e  C o m m u n i t y  F o o d  

S y s t e m

1



Project Purpose

1.

Current Projects
04.02.

03.
N. AZ Food Insecurity

02.

Contact Us
06.

Regional Plan Support

Equity in Food 
Systems

2. 3.

4.

Current Projects

02.
Reflections & 
Priorities

5.

Current Projects

02.
Questions

6.

Timeline Partner Contributions

Community Engagement 
Process

2

Discussion Overview



Purpose of the USDA Grant Project:
Assessing and Growing a Sustainable Community Food System

Supports community 
engagement  in Flagstaff’s climate 
goals related to sustainable and 
localized food access and 
distribution

Provides primary and secondary 
food systems research for 5 
counties across northern Arizona

Assists the City in developing food 
system commitments to inform 
and engage decision-makers, key 
stakeholders, and the community

3



4

Project Timeline



City of Flagstaff Community Food 
System Assessment Community 
Engagement

A Summary and Analysis of Community Conversation 
and Stakeholder Findings in Response to the Community 
Food System Assessment

5



Sara Sprague
Food Systems Coordinator
growersupport@flgstafffoodlink.com

6

Project Support
• Provide a unique perspective during the process design and implementation 

• Coordinate grant Steering Committee

• Work with regional partners to host/promote events

• Facilitate Grower Coalition meetings

• Support stakeholder and public meetings related to this grant

Community Conversations
•  East Flagstaff Library (Audience: General/Sunnyside Neighborhood)

• Flagstaff Aquaplex (Audience: Youth 18-23)

• Murdoch Community Center (Audience: General/Southside Neighborhood) 

• Joe C. Montoya Community and Senior Center (Audience: Seniors)

• STAR School (Audience: Indigenous families) 

• Willow Bend (Audience: Educators & FUSD partners)

Stakeholder Gatherings
• Two events at the Coconino Center for the Arts (Audience: professionals, partners, 

and advocates)



Engagement 
Methodology

• Community Members
• Community Stakeholders

2 Centered Groups:

• Understand how community members are 
making meaning of the data from the 
assessment;

• Understand perspectives on needs, gaps, and 
barriers;

• Identify priorities for developing the food action 
plan;

• Identify potential future food business 
opportunities.

Purpose:

7



Overview

• Engaged a total of 141 individuals
• 94 community members
• 47 stakeholders

• 85% of participants reside in Flagstaff 
with the greatest participation from the 
86004 zip code

• Reached individuals ages 18-75+ with 
an equal split of participation across all 
age groups

• Participation by race/ethnicity aligned 
with census with slightly higher 
participation among Native Americans

8



Community Reflections

Agriculture landscape, food 
production, and infrastructure

• Points of interest:
• # of farms and ranches
• % of Indigenous farmers
• Loss of farmland
• Distribution gaps

Food retail environment and food 
access

• Points of interest:
• High # of restaurants
• Low # of grocery/markets that 

accept nutrition assistance
• Food cost

9



Community Reflections, continued

Food consumption and health
• Points of interest:

• Food cost as connected to 
options and health

• Desire to focus on children and 
opportunities through schools

Food waste and recovery
• Points of interest:

•  Amount of waste
• Composting

10



Community Reflections, continued

Making meaning of the data:
• Points of confusion:

• Trying to determine if a data 
point is “good” or “bad”

• What actions to take in response 
to the data

Barriers and challenges:
• Food costs
• A need to better support area 

farmers and food producers
• Perceptions of tensions 

between investing in the food 
system and challenges with 
tourism

11



Opportunities Informed by Community in 
Response to the Assessment

Increase

Priority opportunity 
theme 1: Increase 
food hubs across 
northern Arizona.

Improve

Priority opportunity 
theme 2: Improve 
partnerships that are 
focused on food 
distribution 
challenges.

Incentivize

Priority opportunity 
theme 3: Incentivize 
healthy food options 
to address food cost 
and affordability.

Make Accessible

Priority opportunity 
theme 4: Make it 
more possible/ 
accessible for 
northern Arizona to 
grow their own food.

12



Stakeholder Reflections

Agriculture landscape, food 
production, and infrastructure

• Points of interest:
• # of farms and ranches
• % of Indigenous farmers
• Direct to consumer sales 

opportunities
• Zoning regulations
• Commercial kitchen 

infrastructure and access

Food retail environment and food 
access

• Points of interest:
• # of eateries
• # of grocery outlets
• Cost of food

13



Stakeholder Reflections, continued

Food consumption, health, and 
food access
• Points of interest:

• % of income spent on food
• Affordability
• School-based opportunities for 

children/youth/students
• % of people interested in 

growing food
• % of people interested in 

increasing access to farmers 
markets

Food waste and recovery
• Points of interest:

•  Amount of waste
• Liabilities around food recovery

14



Stakeholder Food System Priorities

Food access
Agriculture 

landscape and 
food production

Tie – Food retail 
environment and 

food system 
infrastructure

15



Stakeholder Informed Potential Food Business 
Opportunities

Support food recovery 
businesses

Support growing-zone 
smart production among 

farm businesses

Support local food 
distribution businesses

Support growing-zone 
smart production on city-

owned spaces

16



Questions

adrienneudarbe@pinnacleprevention.org

17



STAKEHOLDER 

GATHERING 

COMMUNITY 

FOOD SYSTEM ASSESSMENT 

� HAGSTAH 

V
FOODLINK 

NEW 
VENTURE 
ADVISORS LLC 

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF & 

NORTHERN ARIZONA 

CATHER WITH US! 

JOIN US TO LEARN MORE ABOUT THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF & NORTHERN 

ARIZONA COMMUNITY FOOD SYSTEM ASSESSMENT 

About the Community Food System Assessment 
Stakeholder Gathering 

This stakeholder gathering is an opportunity to reflect on key highlights from the City of Hagstaff and 
Northern Arizona Community l=ood System Assessment. You will also have the opportunity to share your 
needs and priorities for informing the development of a future food action plan. This event is facilitated 
by Pinnacle Prevention in collaboration with the City of Hagstaff and Hagstaff l=oodlink. 

Options for Attending 

We will be gathering together at the Coconino Center for the Arts located at 2300 N l=ort Valley Rd, 

Hagstaff, AZ 86001. There are two options for participating. Join us for either: 

• Breakfast session I Wednesday, October 23, 2024 from 9AM-ll:30AM 
or

• Lunch session I Thursday, October 24, 2024 from 12PM-2:30PM

RSVP HERE 

YOU CAN LEARN MORE ABOUT THE COMMUNITY FOOD SYSTEM ASSESSMENT ONLINE: 

htt ps :/ /www. flags ta ff. az. gov/ 49 0 0/ Assess in g-G rowing-a-Community-� o od-Sys te 

https://bit.ly/CFSA_StakeholderGathering
https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/4900/Assessing-Growing-a-Community-Food-Syste


   10.  10.                       

CITY OF FLAGSTAFFCITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORTSTAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To:To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From:From: Stacey Brechler-Knaggs, Grants, Contracts & Emergency

Management Director
Date:Date: 10/08/2024
MeetingMeeting
Date:Date:

02/25/2025

TITLE:TITLE:
U.S. Department of Treasury, American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA), Local Recovery Fund UpdateU.S. Department of Treasury, American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA), Local Recovery Fund Update
 

DESIRED OUTCOME:DESIRED OUTCOME:
City staff will provide an update on the ARPA and Non-Federal ARPA Coronavirus Local Fiscal
Recovery Funds.

Executive Summary:Executive Summary:
The City of Flagstaff received $13,252,816 from the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) Local Recovery
Funding (LRF). The funds were to provide much-needed relief to:

Support urgent COVID-19 response efforts to continue to decrease spread of the virus and bring the
pandemic under control;
Replace lost public sector revenue to strengthen support for vital public services and help retain jobs;
Support immediate economic stabilization for households and businesses; and, 
Address systemic public health and economic challenges that have contributed to the unequal impact of
the pandemic on certain populations.

Information:Information:
The American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) for State and Local Recovery Fund (SLFRF) provided a substantial
infusion of resources to help turn the tide on the pandemic, address its economic fallout and lay the
foundation for a strong and equitable recovery. The ARPA funds provided substantial flexibility for each
government to meet local needs--including support for households, small businesses, impacted industries,
essential workers, and the communities hit hardest by the crisis. These funds may also be used to make
necessary investments in water, sewer, and broadband infrastructure.

On September 7, 2021, the City Council provided their recommendations on the allocation of the funding
categories.

On April 1, 2022 the Department of Treasury Final Rule offered a standard allowance of Revenue Loss
Replacement of up to $10 million. Its intent was to help minimize administrative burden, and in recognition of
the fast that thousands of local governments continue to operate at some level of reduced capacity. The City
elected to use the "standard allowance" of $10 million to spend on government services through the funding
period of performance. By utilizing the standard allowance for lost revenue of up to $10 million for the lifetime
of the grant. This added effectiveness and efficiency in delivering Council directed programs. This also
alleviated some of the administrative burden, procurement restrictions, compliance/audit risks, extensive
reporting, monitoring and oversight.

The remaining $3,252,816 was designated to nine (9) of the ARPA allowed categories as designated by City
Council.



Per the Department of Treasury all funds must be obligated by December 31, 2024 and expended by
December 31, 2026.  As of December 31, 2024, all funds were obligated.

Attachments:Attachments: ARPA Update



American Rescue 
Plan Act (ARPA) 

Update
Funding from the 

Department of Treasury



ARPA Update

The American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) for State
and Local Recovery Fund (SLFRF) provides a
substantial infusion of resources to help turn the
tide on the pandemic, address its economic fallout
and lay the foundation for a strong and equitable
recovery.



ARPA Update
City of Flagstaff received $13,252,816
• September 7, 2021 - Council allocated to categories
• April 1, 2022 – Elected the “standard allowance” of $10m for 

government services
• Balance of $3,252,816 designated to eleven (11) ARPA allowed 

categories w/ federal requirements
• Balance of $10m designated to nine (9) ARPA allowed categories 

w/o federal requirements including deadlines
• Funds must be obligated by December 31, 2024 and 

expended by December 31, 2026 



ARPA Update
Federal Funding Status Table (100% Obligated)

PROJECT NAME ALLOCATION STATUS
Congregate Care $398,432.34 COMPLETE
Community Ambassador Program $79,956.00 < 25%
Housing Assistance: Other Housing Assistance $259,948.00 > 50%
Housing Assistance: Affordable Housing $1,294,796.00 > 75%
Housing Assistance: Services for the Unhoused $345,256.00 >75%
Job Training Assistance $60,000.00 COMPLETE
Aid to Non-Profits: Victim Services $401,418.43 < 25%
Local Event Support, Permits & Fees $55,220.71 COMPLETE
Education Assistance: Early Learning $250,000.00 COMPLETE
Support for Filling Vacancies, Promote Team Flagstaff $100,000.00 COMPLETE
Administration of ARPA Funds $7,788.52 COMPLETE

TOTAL: $3,252,816.00



ARPA Update
What was Funded - Federal
• Congregate Care: 

• 3 agencies were awarded funding to combat the spread of Covid-
19 amongst residents of shelters, transitional/supportive housing, 
and emergency housing facilities.

• Community Ambassador Program: 
• Funding was awarded to provide Downtown Ambassador 

services.



ARPA Update
What was Funded - Federal
• Housing Assistance – Other: 

• 2 agencies were awarded funding to assist in housing stability and 
eviction prevention.

• Housing Assistance – Affordable Housing: 
• 3 agencies were awarded funding to create, improve, and provide 

affordable housing options.
• Housing Assistance – Services for the Unhoused: 

• 3 agencies were awarded funding for housing and related services 
for unhoused youth, adults, and families.



ARPA Update
What was Funded - Federal
• Job Training Assistance: 

• Awarded funding to an innovative local business to implement a 
workforce training and fellowship program to promote and 
expand a unique sector that has recently been identified as a 
focus area of the Economic Development Strategic Plan.

• Aid to Non-Profits – Victim Services: 
• 3 agencies were awarded funding for services to victims of crime, 

including domestic violence.



ARPA Update
What was Funded - Federal
• Local Event Support: 

• Funding was provided to various local event producers to ease 
the burden of fees and permitting costs of hosting local 
community events.

• Education Assistance – Early Learning: 
• Awarded funding to United Way of Northern Arizona (UWNA) to 

distribute, on the City’s behalf, to 3 agencies for preschool and 
early learning related programs, including impacted and 
disproportionately impacted communities.



ARPA Update
What was Funded - Federal
• Support for Filling Vacancies & Promotion of Team Flagstaff:

• The City used funding for marketing to potential employees and 
fill some job openings created by the Covid-19 pandemic.

• Administration of ARPA Funds: 
• Funding was used for costs associated with the administration of 

the funding.



ARPA Update
Non-Federal Funding Status Table

PROJECT NAME ALLOCATION STATUS

Small Business Assistance $290,152.70 COMPLETE
Aid to Non-Profits: Arts & Sciences $150,000.00 COMPLETE
Aid to Non-Profits: Food $115,000.00 COMPLETE
Aid to Non-Profits: Other $369,374.00 COMPLETE
Aid to Tourism, Travel, or Hospitality $128,561.15 COMPLETE
Education Assistance: Facility Construction $2,750,000.00 < 50%
Premium Pay for Public Safety Employees $700,000.00 COMPLETE
Broadband – Other Projects $1,500,000.00 0%
Revenue Loss Replacement $3,832,816.00 COMPLETE
Administration of Non-Federal Funds $164,096.15 COMPLETE

TOTAL: $10,000,000.00



ARPA Update
What was Funded – Non-Federal
• Small Business Assistance: 

• 42 local small businesses received funding to help overcome 
challenges due to the Covid-19 pandemic. Businesses included 
restaurants, therapists, artists, retail stores, and many more.

• Aid to Non-Profits – Arts & Sciences: 
• Awarded funding to Creative Flagstaff who disbursed it, on the 

City’s behalf, to 17 local organizations in the fields of arts and 
sciences, who experienced negative economic impacts of the 
Covid-19 pandemic.



ARPA Update
What was Funded – Non-Federal
• Aid to Non-Profits – Food: 

• Awarded funding to UWNA who distributed it to 3 agencies, on 
behalf of the City, who used it help combat the food insecurity 
issues in our community.

• Aid to Non-Profits – Other: 
• Awarded funding to UWNA who distributed it to 16 agencies, on 

behalf of the City, who used it to support causes like shelters, 
literacy, cancer patients, children, mental health, community 
centers, etc. 



ARPA Update
What was Funded – Non-Federal
• Aid to Tourism, Travel, or Hospitality: 

• Awarded funding to 22 local tourism-related businesses that were 
some of the hardest hit economically by the Covid-19 pandemic.  
Businesses included restaurants, breweries, coffee shops, 
theatres, and hotels. 

• Education Assistance – Facility Construction:  
• Funding was allocated for the construction of an educational 

facility in the Joel Montalvo/former fire station.



ARPA Update
What was Funded – Non-Federal
• Premium Pay for Public Safety Employees: 

• Used funding to increase pay for the employees in the Police and 
Emergency Communication roles.  

• Broadband – Other Projects: 
• Allocation is planned to be used as a match to fund a larger 

infrastructure improvement project related to community 
broadband/fiber.



ARPA Update
What was Funded – Non-Federal
• Aid to Tourism, Travel, or Hospitality: 

• Awarded funding to 22 local tourism-related businesses that were 
some of the hardest hit economically by the Covid-19 pandemic.  
Businesses included restaurants, breweries, coffee shops, 
theatres, and hotels. 

• Education Assistance – Facility Construction:  
• Funding was allocated for the construction of an educational 

facility in the Joel Montalvo/former fire station.



ARPA Update
What was Funded – Non-Federal
• Revenue Loss Replacement: 

• Through the budget process we were able to support several 
funds and program with valuable resources.  Some of these 
include:

• $500,000 to Housing Emergency 
• $500,000 to Climate Emergency
• City leased facilities improvements, fleet electrification of vehicles, 

PROSE master plan, HURF Equipment, ParkFlag reserve, and more



ARPA Update

Over 100 different local small businesses and non-
profit agencies were awarded funding!

In addition, dozens of community events were 
supported, and local businesses were contracted!



ARPA Update

Questions?



   11.  11.                       

CITY OF FLAGSTAFFCITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORTSTAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To:To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From:From: Tamara Lawless, Water Conservation Manager
Co-Submitter:Co-Submitter: Erin Young, Lee Williams
Date:Date: 02/14/2025
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 02/25/2025

TITLE:TITLE:
Overview of the Water Services Division and a Water Resources & Conservation UpdateOverview of the Water Services Division and a Water Resources & Conservation Update
 

DESIRED OUTCOME:DESIRED OUTCOME:
New City Council members will get a short overview of the Water Services Division, followed by an
overview of the operations of the Water Resources & Conservation section. This item is for discussion
only, no council action is required. 

Executive Summary:Executive Summary:
This presentation will begin with a short summary of the Water Services Division and then proceed into an
overview of Flagstaff's Water Resources Section and Water Conservation Program.
 
The purpose of this item is to provide new council members with information about:

How the City of Flagstaff Water Services Division operates
What major programs and projects are managed by the Water Resources & Conservation Section
What water resources (supplies) exist today for Flagstaff customers
How water resources are managed in Flagstaff
How water conservation is utilized as a water resource (supply)
What has been accomplished since the 2020 Water Conservation Strategic Plan was approved by the
City Council

City Council members will also be invited to tour some of Flagstaff's critical water infrastructure in the near
future. 

Information:Information:
The work performed by the Water Resources & Conservation Section is critical both for long-term planning for
the Flagstaff community and also for achieving the City's climate goals.  

Attachments:Attachments: Presentation



Water Services / 
Water Resources & 

Conservation Update 

Water Services Division Staff

February 2025



Water Services Overview (LEE)

• Six Sections
• Field Operations
• Plant operations
• Stormwater
• Engineering
• Regulatory Compliance
• Resource Management

•Overarching Responsibilities
• Drinking Water
• Wastewater
• Stormwater



Plant Operations- Lee Williams

•Water
• Two plants, four well fields, 

reservoirs & booster stations
• Ensures quality and quantity of 

water needed
• Future-RGR

•SCADA
• IIOT
• Mapping
• Communications

•Water Reclamation
• Two plants (6+4MGD)

• Treat sewage to State & Federal 
standards

• Produce A+ reclaimed water

• Handle solids



Field Operations-Patrick O’Connor

•Water Distribution

•Delivers water from sources 
to customers
• 450 miles of water mains
• Purple pipe system
• On-call 24/7/365

•Wastewater Collections

•Collects used water from 
customers & conveys to 
treatment plants
• Sewer pipes, manholes
• 281 miles sewer mains
• On-call 24/7/365



Stormwater- Ed Schenk

•Safely Conveys Run-off 
• Drainages and Storm Sewer

• Construct, improve 
and maintain infrastructure

• Code enforcement

• Overlap with County 
and USFS

• Plan reveiw



Engineering- Mac McNamara

•Design & Construct
•Works closely with staff 

and engineering firms
• Design facility upgrades
• Design plant rehab
• Oversee construction
• Plan review for new 

development



Regulatory Compliance- Jolene Montoya

•Ensures compliance with State & Federal Laws
•Certified labs in treatment plants

• Water quality testing
• Plants

• Distribution system

• Writing and filing reports
• Working with plant staff & State



Resource Management- Erin Young

•Resource Management 
• Water resource monitoring

• Long-term water demand and 
water resource forecasting

• Water rights management

• Represent the City on regional 
water related groups and 
organizations

• Manage partner contracts

• Groundwater well locations

•Water Conservation
• Code enforcement

• Work with community and city 
locations on conservation and 
efficiency efforts

• Represent the City on regional 
water related groups and 
organizations

• Manage partner contracts



Water Resource History

Flagstaff Water Supply Over time
•Currently import up to 

2/3 of our water 
resources from outside 
city limits

•75% of our water 
resources are located in a 
forested landscape



Water Resource Development

Challenging hydrogeology for deep groundwater yield



Water Resource Management
Planning for 100 years – Designation of Adequate Water 
Supply
• Tie Water Needs to 

Voter-Adopted 
Regional plan

•Use projections

•Groundwater 
monitoring

•Conservation as a 
resource



Assumptions

Upper Lake Mary 
     74-year median annual volume 
      1,927 AF/year

Inner Basin 0 AF/year due to             
intermittent nature of supply 

Reclaimed Water 2,212 AF/year
  
Groundwater  9,913 AF/year



Water Conservation Strategic Plan
Decrease an additional 20 gallons per capita per day over 
20 years - target a total 80 gpcd

COF Water Conservation 

Team with Chief of EPA 

WaterSense Program, 

Veronica Blette 

EPA WaterSense

Partner of the Year, 2024

Basecase - No Additional Conservation



Water Conservation Strategic Plan
Decrease an additional 20 gallons per capita per day over 
20 years - target a total 80 gpcd

Basecase - No Additional Conservation W/ Optimized Conservation Program



Water Conservation

Water Use Trends over time



66
6160585756565350

54514948
54

494646

50

47
434241424141

38
3940

3636
36

35
3433

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

70,000

80,000

90,000

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

1980 1985 1990 1995 2000 2005 2010 2015 2020

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

A
n

n
u

al
 A

ve
ra

ge
 T

o
ta

l G
al

lo
n

s 
P

ro
d

u
ce

d
 P

e
r 

C
ap

it
a 

P
e

r 
D

ay
 (

G
P

C
D

)

Year

Water use trends 1980 - 2023

Total (Non-Revenue + Revenue) GPCD Peaked 
at 186 in 1989

Total GPCD of 89 
in 2023

Non-Residential 
GPCD

Residential 
GPCD

Population

Non-Revenue 
GPCD



Water Conservation Program

•1988 Conservation Ordinance

• ~2003 Staff established
• Ordinance revision to start doing conservation measures as the 

baseline condition

•2020 Strategic Plan
• Extensive public outreach process from 2018-2020
• Cost benefit analysis of various actions
• Council approval in December of 2020



Water Conservation

2021-2024 stats

1,000 toilets 
retrofitted

4,000 
aerators 

distributed

3,400 
showerheads 

distributed

50 residential 
consultations

90 
commercial 

consultations

725 
rainbarrels 

provided

600 water 
violations

14,000 public 
interactions

2 full time 
staff, 3 aides



Water Conservation

Continued implementation of strategic plan
•Code changes

• Upcoming revisions to the plant list / landscape guidelines
• Consideration of WaterSense requirements for fixtures
• Changes to how reclaimed water can be used

•Grant-funded income qualified leak repair and fixture 
retrofit program

•Grant-funded nonrevenue water audit program

•Observation of customer response to rate changes



Questions?

Thank you!



   12.  12.                       

CITY OF FLAGSTAFFCITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORTSTAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To:To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From:From: Sarah Darr, Housing Director
Date:Date: 02/18/2025
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 02/25/2025

TITLE:TITLE:
Presentation and Discussion on an Opportunity to Expand Housing Choice Voucher ProgramPresentation and Discussion on an Opportunity to Expand Housing Choice Voucher Program
Resources by Accepting a Voluntary Program Transfer From the City of WilliamsResources by Accepting a Voluntary Program Transfer From the City of Williams
 

DESIRED OUTCOME:DESIRED OUTCOME:
Discussion of the proposed opportunity and direction from Council.

Executive Summary:Executive Summary:
The City of Williams and the US Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) have requested that
the City of Flagstaff accept a voluntary transfer of Williams's Housing Choice Voucher (HCV) program
consisting of 50 vouchers and all associated funding. The City of Williams has concluded the HCV program is
no longer independently viable in their community due to the decrease in available rental units and the limited
administrative funding due to the program's relatively small size.

 

Information:Information:
The City of Flagstaff has been presented with the opportunity to increase its number of Housing Choice
Vouchers (HCV) by 50 via a transfer of the City of Williams (Williams) HCV program. It is of utmost
importance to mention that should this program transfer be approved, no current Williams voucher holder will
see any impact beyond the administering agency changing to the City of Flagstaff Housing Authority instead
of Williams Housing Authority.

In recent years, fewer than 25 of the 50 vouchers allocated to Williams have been able to be utilized and
Williams has determined the rental housing stock in the community is no longer sufficient to support the
utilization of all 50 vouchers. Like many other communities, Williams has seen a decrease in available long-
term rentals as units are shifted to more profitable short-term rentals. Shifts in how housing units are used are
disproportionately impactful in small communities, and Williams' City Staff estimates the community has 250
short-term rental units, constituting 15% of its 1,653 total housing units.

The decrease in available rental units, combined with limited administrative funding, has led Williams to
conclude that the HCV program is no longer independently viable. Administrative funding for HCV programs is
provided by HUD based on the number of vouchers utilized at the end of the previous month. With utilization
hovering around 50% or less, and few opportunities to increase utilization due to the limited rental stock,
administrative funds have not been sufficient to support the necessary work. This financial strain further
underscores William's desire to transfer the HCV program to a more viable location while preserving the
opportunity for vouchers to be utilized in the community.

The City of Flagstaff HCV Program, administered by the Flagstaff Housing Authority in the Housing Section,
currently administers 530+ vouchers. 

Additional detail is contained in the attached presentation.
 



Attachments:Attachments: HUD Intent Letter
City of Williams Resolution and Transfer Letter
Presentation



 

 

U.S.  DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT 

2800 North Central Avenue, Suite 700 

Phoenix, AZ 85004-4414 

 

 
OFFICE OF PUBLIC HOUSING 

 
  

December 6, 2024 
  
  
Sarah Darr 
Flagstaff Housing Authority 
3481 Fanning Drive 
Flagstaff, AZ 86004 
  

 
Subject: Williams Housing Authority HCV Transfer   
  
 
Dear Ms. Darr, 

 
This letter is to confirm that the Phoenix Office of Public Housing (PXOPH) in our 

request to HUD that the Flagstaff Housing Authority (FHA) be held harmless for the impacts of 
performance deficiencies and HUD liabilities sustained by the Williams Housing Authority 
(WHA) upon receipt of the full FHA Board of Commissioners and the City Council’s resolution 
approving the transfer of the Section 8 Housing Choice Voucher (HCV) program.  Additionally, 
our office will request initial technical assistance for a period of six months to one year from the 
date of the approved transfer from HUD to assist FHA staff with financial matters associated 
with the program transfer and the transfer of participant records, tenant screening and leasing 
requirements prescribed in HUD regulations at 24 CFR 982.     

  
Once our office has received the written approval from FHA’s Board of Commissioners 

and the Flagstaff City Council, we will provide information to the Financial Management Division 
(FMD) on the estimated RNP and UNP balances as of the latest audited Financial Assessment 
Subsystem (FASS) submission, and restricted cash and investments for the WHA to determine the 
full amount of funding for transfer to FHA.       

 
If you have any questions regarding this letter, please contact Jenese Nelson Bojorquez at (602) 
379-7184 or Jenese.A.NelsonBojorquez@hud.gov.   

 
 
Sincerely,  
 
 
 
William M. Rhodes  
Director  
Office of Public Housing  

mailto:Jenese.A.NelsonBojorquez@hud.gov






OPPORTUNITY TO EXPAND 
VOUCHER PROGRAM 

RESOURCES

A Request 
from the City 
of Williams 
and the U.S. 

Department of 
Housing and 

Urban 
Development



OPPORTUNITY 
TO EXPAND 
VOUCHER 
PROGRAM 

RESOURCES

Purpose of Presentation:

Discussion Item

Staff is seeking feedback and 

direction



THE 
OPPORTUNITY 

TO SERVE 

AND INCREASE
COMMUNITY 
RESOURCES

The City of Flagstaff has been 

presented with the opportunity to 

increase its number of Housing 

Choice Vouchers (HCV) by 50 via a

voluntary transfer of the City of 

Williams (Williams) HCV program. 



TERMS USED 
TODAY

Housing Choice 
Voucher (HCV)

Utilization Administrative 
Fee

Housing Assistance 
Payment (HAP)

Service Area



OUTLINE

 What is the Housing Choice Voucher Program 
and how does it work?

 City of Flagstaff and Williams program specifics
 How Does a Transfer Work?
 Transfer Specific Details
 Schedule



THE 
OPPORTUNITY 

TO SERVE 

AND INCREASE
COMMUNITY 
RESOURCES

It is of utmost importance to mention 
right up front that should this program 
transfer be approved, no current 
Williams voucher holder will see any 
impact beyond the administering agency 
changing to the City of Flagstaff Housing 
Authority instead of Williams Housing 
Authority.



PEOPLE

A N D

BUSINESS



HOUSING CHOICE VOUCHER PROGRAM (HCV) 
Largest Federal Affordable Housing Program

Approximately 2.4 million households nationwide

Operated by State and Local Public Housing Agencies

Many sub-programs within HCV

Generally, 50% AMI and below 
($45,500 / 3 person household)

75% of vouchers must be issued to households under 
30% AMI ($27,000 / 3 person household)



HOUSING CHOICE 
VOUCHER PROGRAM

(HCV)

In general, eligible households pay 30% 
of their gross income as rent to the 
landlord– known as tenant payment

PHA pays the difference between the 
tenant payment and the rent of the unit 
directly to the landlord – known as the 
Housing Assistance Payment (HAP)

Unit must be of good quality and have 
reasonable rent for the community



CFHA VOUCHER PROGRAM – 530+ VOUCHERS
 342 Section 8 Housing Choice Vouchers (HCV)

 106 Veterans Affairs Supportive Housing Vouchers (VASH)

 40 Mainstream Vouchers 

 25 Emergency Housing Vouchers (EHV) 

 5 Housing Stabilization Vouchers 
 12 Single Room Occupancy vouchers for Seriously 

Mentally Ill

 Foster Youth to Independence (FYI) Vouchers – currently 7

Public 
Housing 

Authorities 
are allocated 

a certain 
number and 

type of  
vouchers that 
are managed 

within a 
specified 
budget

HOW DO VOUCHER PROGRAMS WORK?



HOW DO VOUCHER PROGRAMS WORK? HCV 
Program

 is a 

partnership 

between 

CFHA, 

Voucher 

Holder, and 

Landlord

PHA 
Administers the program 

and establishes local policies

Participant/Tenant
Pays rent to Owner

Owner/Landlord
Signs lease with Tenant

Lease



LOCAL IMPACT OF  
VOUCHER PROGRAM

IN FLAGSTAFF

530+ Vouchers = Households 
Served

Currently 121 participating 
landlords

In 2024, an average of $599,927 
was paid monthly to local 
landlords in Flagstaff on behalf of 
HCV Program participants



WHAT IS UTILIZATION?
A careful balancing act taking 

into account the number of 
vouchers leased and Housing 
Assistance Payment budget 
used…in an ever changing 

rental market where the 
maximum amount a voucher is 
worth is based on 2 year old 
data…and federal budget 
amounts decided months into 

the funding year.



LOCAL 
PERFORMANCE 

METRICS 

UTILIZATION
AND 

TIME FROM 
ISSUANCE TO 

MOVE-IN

Utilization
Annually over 98% for more than 
15 years

Issuance to Move-In (Number of Days)

18% less than 30  38% 60 – 90
40% 30 – 60  4%   90 – 120

Approx. 10% - 15% Lease in Place



LOCAL 
PERFORMANCE 

METRICS 

SUCCESS
AND

TURNOVER RATES

Success Rate
The rate issued vouchers lease-up

70% locally 60% nationally

Annual Turnover
11% locally 10% nationally

Housing Assistance Payment Budget 
Utilization
98 – 104%



VOUCHER PROGRAM WAITING LIST
Waiting lists for all Flagstaff programs are OPEN

2506 – Total number on waiting list

890 – Number that identified residency preference

Average wait time to receive assistance varies
Local Preference (except for Mainstream Vouchers)
Voucher Program has an approx. wait time of 18-36 
months or more



Current
Service 
Area

Zip Codes 
86001 - 
86005

The area 
where a 
Voucher 
Holder 

can lease



Current
Service 
Area

Zip Codes 
86001 - 
86005

The area 
where a 
Voucher 
Holder 

can lease



MULTIFAMILY 
NEW 

CONSTRUCTION 
IN FLAGSTAFF

712 Units Completed in 2024 
600 market rate 
112 affordable

564 Units Under Construction
321 market rate
243 affordable

1917 Units Approved for Development

January 2022 to Now



THE REQUEST

The City of Williams and HUD have 

requested that the City of Flagstaff accept 

the voluntary transfer of Williams’s voucher 

program of 50 vouchers



WHY?

The City of Williams has concluded the HCV 

program is no longer independently viable in their 

community due to the decrease in available 

rental units and the limited administrative 

funding due to the program's relatively small size



CONTEXT
 In recent years, fewer than 25 of the 50 vouchers 

allocated to Williams have been able to be utilized

Williams has determined the rental housing stock in the 
community is no longer sufficient to support the 
utilization of all 50 vouchers

 Like many other communities, Williams has seen a 
decrease in long-term rentals as units are shifted to 
more profitable short-term rentals. 



CURRENT PROGRAM DYNAMICS
 No staff in place since September 2023

 18-22 vouchers utilized (out of 50)
 Demographic data shows all voucher holders are 

extremely low-income except one household 

 HAP has been paid by City of Williams
 No interim or annual certifications have been 

completed since September 2023

 All utilized vouchers are leased within Williams city 
limits



HOW DOES A TRANSFER WORK?
 Specific HUD required criteria
 Approval of transfer from both surrendering & 

receiving agency
 Approval from state & national headquarters of HUD
 Protection of current voucher holders
 Timing – July 1 effective date
 Preservation of leasing ability in both service areas – 

to become one service area
  Legal, legal, legal



HOW WILL THIS WORK?
 50 general purpose vouchers will be added to 

the CoF Voucher Program

 There will not be a “Williams” and a CoF 
program, only a CoF program with 50 
additional vouchers

 Rental housing stock in Williams is extremely 
limited. It is unrealistic to anticipate a 
significant increase in vouchers being leased 
in Williams



HOW WILL THIS WORK?
 All currently leased vouchers stay that way – 

the only impact to Williams households is 
that they will now work with Flagstaff staff

 All unutilized vouchers can be issued to 
households on the waiting list

 All vouchers will be able to be leased up in 
our current service area and city limits of  
Williams



Proposed
Service 
Area

Adds 
Williams 
City Limits



LET’S TALK ABOUT MONEY
All voucher program funding from the City 

of Williams will transfer to CoF, including 
current and on-going funding, 
administration funding, HAP, restricted 
and unrestricted fund balances etc
The addition of 50 vouchers, when fully 

utilized, will increase the voucher admin 
budget by approx. $60,000 per year 

Financial analysis of the CoF Voucher 
Program shows a healthy budget



WHAT ABOUT OUR STAFF?
 Current staff said yes, and the addition of a 

staff member will make it doable

 The additional admin funding will augment 
the funding necessary for adding a position 
within the voucher program 

 Voucher Program already administering 
limited VASH Vouchers in Williams



WHY 
WOULD 
WE DO 
IT?

 Increased resources in the community
 Increased service area for voucher holders 

to lease in 
Preserve housing resources in the area
Program transfer / increasing service area 

will not require a daily staff presence in 
Williams

City of Williams has agreed to provide 
furnished office space 

All significant risks will be mitigated, or 
transfer not accepted



CONDITIONS OF ACCEPTANCE
CoF / CFHA to be held fully harmless, both 
financially and programmatically
 Technical assistance provided by HUD for:
 Financial matters associated with the program 

transfer, 
 Transfer of participant records, tenant screening, 

and leasing requirements

 Ability to add other contingencies if need be



HUD COMMITMENT (SO FAR)

HUD Phoenix field office director has provided a letter stating:
This letter is to confirm that the Phoenix Office of Public Housing (PXOPH) in our request to HUD that 
the Flagstaff Housing Authority (FHA) be held harmless for the impacts of 
performance deficiencies and HUD liabilities sustained by the Williams Housing 
Authority (WHA) upon receipt of the full FHA Board of Commissioners and the City Council’s resolution 
approving the transfer of the Section 8 Housing Choice Voucher (HCV) program. Additionally, our office will 
request initial technical assistance for a period of six months to one year from the 
date of the approved transfer from HUD to assist FHA staff with financial matters 
associated with the program transfer and the transfer of participant records, 
tenant screening and leasing requirements prescribed in HUD regulations at 24 CFR 982.



OTHER 
IMPORTANT 

INFO

 Williams Housing Authority Board / City Council 
has approved the transfer of the program

 Mutual agreement to hold joint meeting with 
current voucher holders and landlords to discuss 
the dynamics, answer questions, meet staff etc.

 Most, if not all, of the current voucher holders in 
Williams are informally aware of the potential 
transfer as our office has been getting calls for 
months from clients with questions.

 Staffing request has already been preemptively 
initiated 



TIMELINE
 Conversation with Williams and HUD began 

May/June 2024
 Housing Authority Board Discussion – January 16, 

2025
 City Council Work Session – February 25, 2025
 Housing Authority Board – First week of March
 City Council Consideration – March 18, 2025
 Documents to HUD – April 1, 2025



TIMELINE
 Documents to HUD – April 1, 2025

 HUD does what they do

 Transfer Date - July 1, 2025 

 Once program transfer is approved and the 
finances are transferred, then outreach will 
commence, file transfer and clean up will 
take place



OPPORTUNITY 
TO EXPAND 
VOUCHER 
PROGRAM 

RESOURCES

Purpose of Presentation:

Discussion Item

Staff is seeking feedback and 

direction



QUESTIONS?
Opportunity to 

Expand 
Voucher 
Program 
Resources


	Agenda
	AI_8713_February Work Anniversaries
	       ATT_Presentation
	AI_8711_City Manager Report
	AI_8703_Route 66 Centennial Celebration Plans
	       ATT_Route 66 Centennial
	Default Section
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5
	Slide 6
	Slide 7
	Slide 8
	Slide 9
	Slide 10
	Slide 11
	Slide 12
	Slide 13
	Slide 14
	Slide 15
	Slide 16
	Slide 17
	Slide 18
	Slide 19


	AI_8697_USDA Urban Agriculture and Innovative Production Grant Update
	       ATT_Notice of Award
	       ATT_Community Conversation Report
	       ATT_Community Food Systems Assessment
	       ATT_Presentation
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5: City of Flagstaff Community Food System Assessment Community Engagement
	Slide 6
	Slide 7: Engagement Methodology
	Slide 8: Overview
	Slide 9: Community Reflections
	Slide 10: Community Reflections, continued
	Slide 11: Community Reflections, continued
	Slide 12: Opportunities Informed by Community in Response to the Assessment
	Slide 13: Stakeholder Reflections
	Slide 14: Stakeholder Reflections, continued
	Slide 15: Stakeholder Food System Priorities
	Slide 16: Stakeholder Informed Potential Food Business Opportunities
	Slide 17: Questions

	       ATT_Community Conversation Stakeholder Gathering Invite
	AI_8371_Department of Treasury American Rescue Plan Act Update
	       ATT_ARPA Update
	American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) Update
	ARPA Update
	ARPA Update
	ARPA Update
	ARPA Update
	ARPA Update
	ARPA Update
	ARPA Update
	ARPA Update
	ARPA Update
	ARPA Update
	ARPA Update
	ARPA Update
	ARPA Update
	ARPA Update
	ARPA Update
	ARPA Update
	ARPA Update

	AI_8706_Water Resources & Conservation Update
	       ATT_Presentation 
	Slide 1: Water Services / Water Resources & Conservation Update 
	Slide 2: Water Services Overview (LEE)
	Slide 3: Plant Operations- Lee Williams
	Slide 4: Field Operations-Patrick O’Connor
	Slide 5: Stormwater- Ed Schenk
	Slide 6: Engineering- Mac McNamara
	Slide 7: Regulatory Compliance- Jolene Montoya
	Slide 8: Resource Management- Erin Young
	Slide 9: Water Resource History
	Slide 10: Water Resource Development
	Slide 11: Water Resource Management
	Slide 12
	Slide 13: Water Conservation Strategic Plan
	Slide 14: Water Conservation Strategic Plan 
	Slide 15: Water Conservation
	Slide 16
	Slide 17: Water Conservation Program
	Slide 18: Water Conservation
	Slide 19: Water Conservation
	Slide 20: Questions?

	AI_8710_Opportunity to Expand Housing Choice Voucher Program Resources by Accepting a Voluntary Program Transfer From the City of Williams
	       ATT_HUD Intent Letter
	       ATT_City of Williams Resolution and Transfer Letter
	       ATT_Presentation 
	Opportunity to expand voucher program resources
	Opportunity to expand voucher program resources
	The opportunity to serve ��and increase�community resources
	Terms used today
	Outline
	The opportunity to serve ��and increase�community resources
	People��AND��business
	Housing Choice Voucher Program (HCV) 
	Housing Choice Voucher Program�(HCV)
	�CFHA Voucher Program – 530+ Vouchers
	How do voucher programs work?
	Local Impact of  Voucher Program�in flagstaff
	What is utilization?
	Local Performance Metrics ��utilization�and �time from issuance to move-in
	Local Performance Metrics ��Success�and�Turnover Rates
	Voucher Program Waiting list
	Slide Number 17
	Slide Number 18
	Multifamily new construction in Flagstaff
	The request
	Why?
	Context
	Current Program Dynamics
	How does a transfer work?
	How will this work?
	How will this work?
	Slide Number 27
	Let’s talk about money
	What about our staff?
	Why would we do it?
	Conditions of acceptance
	HUD commitment (so far)
	Other important info
	Timeline
	Timeline
	Opportunity to expand voucher program resources
	Questions?


